
POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 

POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
DATE:  June 11, 2025 
TIME:  9:00 a.m. 
PLACE: Polk County Courthouse, Dallas, Oregon 
 

THE LOCATION OF THIS MEETING IS ADA ACCESSIBLE. PLEASE ADVISE THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS AT (503-623-8173), AT LEAST 24 HOURS IN ADVANCE, OF ANY SPECIAL 

ACCOMMODATIONS NEEDED TO ATTEND OR TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING VIRTUALLY. 

 
PAGE:         AGENDA ITEMS 
 
  1. CALL TO ORDER AND NOTE OF ATTENDANCE 

  
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
(a) Regular meetings of the Board of Commissioners are held on Tuesday and Wednesday each week. Each meeting 

is held in the Courthouse Conference Room, 850 Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. Each meeting begins at 9:00 a.m. and 
is conducted according to a prepared agenda that lists the principal subjects anticipated to be considered. Pursuant 
to ORS 192.640, the Board may consider and take action on subjects that are not listed on the agenda.  The Board 
also holds a department staff meeting at 9:00am on every Monday in the Commissioners Conference Room at 850 
Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. 
 

(b) The Grand Ronde Sanitary District Board is meeting on June 18, 2025 at 9:15 a.m. The meeting will take place in the 
Polk County Courthouse, 850 Main Street, Dallas, OR, 97338. 

 
 

  3. COMMENTS (for items not on this agenda and limited to 3 minutes. We encourage all community 
members to engage with public comments to the Board of Commissioners.  However, out of 
respect for our audience and a general sense of decorum please refrain from vulgar, 
threatening or inappropriate language.) 

  4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

  5. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM June 4, 2025   

  6.  APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR 

  7. LENGTH OF SERVICE AWARDS – Matt Hawkins 

• Alicia Lara, 10 years of service 

• Jason Ball, 10 years of service 

• Amber Stacy, 20 years of service 

• Erik Heikila, 25 years of service 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

        
a) New Job Specification and Wage, Appraiser Trainee 

(Matt Hawkins, Admin Services Director) 
 

b) Ambulance Service Area, Variance Support Request 
(Dean Bender, Emergency Management Manager) 
 

c) Polk County Contract No. 25-80, Service Contract 
(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

d) Polk County Contract No. 25-81, Service Contract 
(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

e) Local Alcohol and Drug Policy Committee Membership, 
(Jodi Merritt, Community Corrections Director) 
 

f) Polk County Contract No. 25-90, DHS 

(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

g) Polk County Contract No. 25-91, Service Contract 
(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

h) Polk County Contract No. 25-92, Western Oregon University 

(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
                 



POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Page 2 of 3 

 

 

                              THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WILL MEET IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 PURSUANT TO ORS 192.660. 
 
  ADJOURNMENT 

 
     
  



POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Page 3 of 3 

 

 

   POLK COUNTY PUBLIC MEETINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

GUIDELINE FOR CITIZENS 
***************************** 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 

Regular meetings of the Polk County Board of Commissioners convene at 9 a.m. each Wednesday morning. Any 
person wishing to bring a matter before the Board at one of these meetings may do so by mailing or delivering 
written notice, concisely describing the nature of the item, to the Board of Commissioners, Polk County Courthouse, 
Dallas, Oregon 97338, by noon on the preceding Thursday. Unless otherwise announced, meetings are held in the 
Main Conference Room of the Courthouse. 

***************************** 

APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 

 

The Board sets aside a time at each regular meeting for comment by the public on subjects not appearing on the 
Agenda. Individuals may come forward and make any statement they wish, but not to exceed three (3) minutes in 
length, except as is required to give concise answers to questions from Board members. If the subject will require 
a lengthier presentation, or merits inclusion as an item on the Agenda of a future meeting, the Board shall schedule 
it accordingly. 

***************************** 
PUBLIC HEARING FORMAT 

Land Use 
 
1. Chairman opens hearing. 
 a. Reading of hearing request or appeal statement. 
 b. Call for abstentions (ex parte contact or conflict of interest). 
2. County staff presents background, summary and its recommendation (20-minute limit). 
3. Applicant (Appellant) presents his/her case (15-minute limit). 
4.  Public testimony. Note that all testimony and evidence must be directed toward the applicable factual and 

legal criteria as identified in the record and/or during this hearing. Do not repeat previous testimony. Simply 
note for the record that you are in agreement with that earlier testimony. Your time to present testimony is 
limited. FAILURE TO RAISE AN ISSUE IN THIS HEARING, IN PERSON OR BY LETTER, OR FAILURE 
TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE SPECIFICITY TO AFFORD THE BOARD AN OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND 
TO THE ISSUE MAY PRECLUDE LATER APPEAL TO LUBA ON THAT ISSUE. 

 a. Individuals in favor of the application or appeal. 
 b. Individuals against the application or appeal. At the discretion of the Chairman, an attorney, 

consultant, or other designated representative of two or more individuals may be allowed the 
combined time for each represented individual who does not speak, not to exceed 20 minutes. The 
Chairman may require proof of designation. 

5. Rebuttal by Applicant (Appellant) (10-minute limit). 
6. Questions from Board (discussion limited to individuals questioned by the Board).  
 a. Staff. 
 b. Applicant (Appellant). 
 c. Individuals testifying. 
7. Chairman closes hearing and announces closing of Record. 
8. Chairman announces date for deliberation and decision. 
9. The Board's decision is deemed the final decision of Polk County. It may be appealed to LUBA within 21 

days of its issuance in written form. The address and phone number of LUBA may be obtained from the Polk 
County Community Development Department and will also appear on the Notice of Decision which will be 
mailed to all persons who testify, submit comments, or print their name and address on the hearing 
attendance sheet at the back of the hearing room. 

 

 



 

POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
MINUTES June 4, 2025  
 
1. CALL TO ORDER & ATTENDANCE 

At 9:00 a.m., Commissioner Pope declared the meeting of the Polk County Board of Commissioners 
to be in session and Commissioner Gordon was present and Commissioner Mordhorst was absent. 
 
Staff present: Greg Hansen, Administrative Officer 
  Morgan Smith, County Counsel 
  Matt Hawkins, Administrative Services Director 
          
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Regular meetings of the Board of Commissioners are held on Tuesday and Wednesday each week. 
Each meeting is held in the Courthouse Conference Room, 850 Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. Each 
meeting begins at 9:00 a.m. and is conducted according to a prepared agenda that lists the principle 
subjects anticipated to be considered. Pursuant to ORS 192.640, The Board may consider and take 
action on subjects that are not listed on the agenda. The Board also holds a department staff meeting 
at 9:00 a.m. on every Monday in the Commissioners Conference Room at 850 Main Street, Dallas, 
Oregon.  
 

 
3. COMMENTS 
  None. 
 

 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER GORDON MOVED, COMMISSIONER POPE SECONDED, TO 
APPROVE THE AGENDA. 

 
    BOTH VOTED YES. 
    MOTION PASSED BY VOTE OF THE QUORUM.  
 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF May 28, 2025 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER GORDON MOVED, COMMISSIONER POPE SECONDED, TO 
APPROVE THE MINUTES OF May 28, 2025. 

 
    BOTH VOTED YES. 
    MOTION PASSED BY VOTE OF THE QUORUM.  
 
 
 
6. APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER GORDON MOVED, COMMISSIONER POPE SECONDED, TO 
APPROVE THE CONSENT CALENDAR. 

      
    BOTH VOTED YES. 
    MOTION PASSED BY VOTE OF THE QUORUM.  
 
 

 
 
7. FALLS CITY RESOURCE CENTER LOC AWARD & FCO UPDATE  

AJ Foscoli, Falls City Manager, Amy Houghtaling, Falls City Council Member, & Brent 
DeMoe, Family & Community Outreach Director, went over a power point presentation for 
the Commissioners and staff. The presentation went over the Falls City Resource Center 
that opened September 23, 2024. They talked about the health and wellness providers 



June 4, 2025 
Page 2 

 

  

that are located in the facility, other on-site providers like Bambinos, special events and 
community support, sheds and planter boxes built by Amity High School, and a preview 
of what the last 8 months have looked like. Ms. Houghtaling shared her favorite 
community event they have hosted through the Resource Center and that is the Happy 
Dance. She explained how that event has started and what takes place during that event. 
Mr. DeMoe shared a couple success stories and the plans for the future. Commissioner 
Pope asked about WVP’s involvement and Mr. DeMoe answered his question. Mr. 
DeMoe recognized all the partners that have been involved with the Resource Center 
and he invited Ms. Houghtaling to talk about the community and the impact it has had on 
their community. Mr. Foscoli stated that the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) was looking 
for nominations which he nominated the Resource Center for, which led to them winning 
the award. Commissioner Gordon thanks them for coming and he wanted to recognize 
them for making this possible for their community. Commissioner Pope stated that he is 
very proud of their hard work but stated there is still a long way to go for the Falls City 
community, like transportation and access to groceries. Commissioner Pope is grateful 
that they were recognized for leading the way with their innovative thinking.   

 
 
 
8. RECLASSIFICATION OF AN EMPLOYEE  

Matt Hawkins, Admin Services Director, is recommending the reclassification of Health 
Services Analyst II to a Management Analyst I. Should the reclassification be approved, it 
would be effective May 1, 2025 and have an approximate impact to the FY24-25 budget 
of $4,000 including PERS contributions should it be for 12 months. 
 
APPROVED BY CONSENSUS OF THE QUORUM. 

  
 
 
 
The following items were approved by Motion under 5. APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 

        
a) Polk County Contract No. 25-72, Service Contract 

(Austin McGuigan, Community Development 
Director) 
 

b) Polk County Contract No. 25-73, Service Contract 
(Rosana Warren, Public Health) 

 

c) Polk County Contract No. 25-74, Providence Health 
Plan 

(Rosana Warren, Public Health) 

 

d) Polk County Contract No. 25-75, Iris Telehealth 
Medical Group, PA 

(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

e) Polk County Contract No. 25-76, Northwest Human 
Services 

(Rosana Warren, Behavioral Health) 
 

f) Polk County Contract No. 25-77, Employment 
Agreement 
(Greg Hansen, Administrative Officer) 
 

g) Polk County Contract No. 25-78, Employment 
Agreement 
(Greg Hansen, Administrative Officer) 

 

h) Polk County Contract No. 25-79, Employment 



June 4, 2025 
Page 3 

 

  

Agreement 
(Greg Hansen, Administrative Officer) 

 

i) Polk County Order No. 25-08, Hall Road Vacation 

(Todd Whitaker, Public Works Director) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

At 9:24 a.m. County Counsel announced that the meeting was recessed to Executive 
Session pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(f) To consider information or records that are 
exempt by law from public inspection. 

The Executive Session ended at 9:49 a.m. and Commissioner Pope adjourned the 
meeting. 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
       

        

 Craig Pope, Chair   
 
 

                                                       
    Jeremy Gordon, Commissioner 

        
                 
         
         Lyle Mordhorst, Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
Minutes: Nicole Pineda  
Approved: June 11, 2025 



HUMAN RESOURCES
POLK COUNTY

TO:

FROM:

DATE:

SUBJECT

poLK couNTY couRTHousE * DALLAS, OREGON 97338-3174
(s03) 623-1888 *rax (503) 623-1889

MEMORANDUM

Board of Commissioners

Matt Hawkins, Administrative Services Director

June3,2025

New Job Specification and Wage

Wednesday - June ll, 2025 (Consent)

RECOMMENDATION:
The Board of Commissioners approve the new job specification and wage.

ISSUE:
Shall the Board approve this new job specification and wage?

DISCUSSION:
It is recommended that the Board of Commissioners adopt a new job specification for an Appraiser
Trainee in the Assessor's Office. The idea behind this job description is to allow the Assessor to hire
an individual that can be trained in the duties of an Appraiser over a one-year period. At the end of
that one-year period the individual (s) in this job classification will be required to complete a trainee

program and become a registered Appraiser through the state of Oregon.

It has become extremely difficult to hire an Appraiser, and it is believed that we will receive many

more applications for this position and allow the Assessor's Office to train these individuals in a

manner that is consistent with state law and the expectations of Polk County.

The salary range for the Appraiser Trainee will be (008) $3,528 - 54,464'

FISCAL IMPACT:
No fiscal impact for FY 25-26.



POLK

POLK COUNTY CI-\SS SPECIFICATION
APPRAISER TRAINEE

Class Spec. Number: 121

Representation: AFSCME
FLSA Status: Non-Exempt

SalaryRangc 008

GENERAL STATEMENT OF DUTIES: The appraiser trainee program is an on-the-job raining
program for county assessment staff. This position is able to work as an apptaiset ftainee while training

under supervision to become a registered appraiser. Duties include tesponsibilides such as; field

inspection, valuad.on determination, and data collection and analysis. This must be done in accordance

with curent state laws, administrative rules, procedures and guidelines as well as local procedures and

guidelines. This position is required to complete the Apptaiser Trainee Exam Ptepatation
program within twelve (12) months from the date of hite. By the end of this ptogtam the
employee must pass the Registered Appraiset license exam with the Department of Revenue.

Any employee in good standing shall be promoted to an Appraiset I position within the

depaftment once they have passed the Registeted Apptaiser license exam.

SUPERVISION RECEIVED: \Works under the supervision of the Chief Appraiser, who makes work
assignments, reviews work through reports, and observes work performance. Works with the Assessot

who ovelsees the appraiser ftainee progtam and administers regulat teviews and testing.

SUPERVISION EXERCISED: Supervision is not a regular responsibility of this class.

PRINCIPAL DUTIES: An employee in this classification will be ttained to perform any of the

following duties. However, these examples do not include all the specific tasks which an employee m^y

be expected to perform.

Performs the more routine appraisals of residential, nttal or personal property fot tax

assessment purposes. Gathers field data, talks to homeownets. Physically inspects buildings and

land to determine value; measures and classifies buildings; observes construction type, quality,

age; classifies land. Inspects personal property subject to taxadon; determines appraised value;

calculates assessed value.

Assists in the classification of farrland by location, topogaphy, soil productivity and other

petinent factors and establishes values.

Computes replacement costs and applies obsolescence or depteciation factors as necessary trr

determining market values of buildings and structwes.

Researches and gather data required fot local cost modifi.ets, class and sales benchmarks and

depreciation studies, daily reports and records using computerized tecord keeping system.

Prepares reports on appraisals and evaluations made.

Intelprets and explains appraisal and assessment procedures to the public both in the office and

field. Assist other users of depatment in gathering information.

1

2

J

4.

5.

6.



Porr CouNrY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

POLK COUNTY

To

From:

Date:

Subject

820 S,W. ASH STREET * Drr.r,As, Onrcox 97338-2112
(s03) 623-071s * FAx (s03) 623-6819

Polk County Board of Commissioners

Dean Bender - Ambulance Service Area - Chair

june 3, 2025

Variance Support Request

Recommendation:
For the Board of Commissioners to support the ASA Committee's recommendation to
"support" the variance requested by Sheridan Fire District to the Oregon Health Authority

On April 29th 2025, Sheridan Fire District requested a meeting with the Polk County ASA

Committee to discuss a variance they are seeking from the Oregon Health Authority (OHA).

(See Attachment 1). Along with the meeting request email message, I have attached a letter
from Sheridan Fire District to the Polk County Board of Commissioners and the

PolkASA Board (See attachment 2) and a copyof the "draft" letterfrom Sheridan Fire Districtto
OHA (See attachment 3).

The variance is seeking for a limited time when they don't have a part-time EMT available to
respond with their second-out ambulance to be able to use a certified OHA-approved

Emergency Medical Responder (EMR)to be allowed and utilized as a transport driver instead of
an EMT. This request is an allowable condition/requirement under our current Polk County

ASA Plan as well as the draft polk County ASA Plan.

The requested meeting was held on April 27th with approximately half of the members in

attendance. At the meeting, members were able to ask questions of Chief Thomas about the
variance request. Members seemed very satisfied with the answers provided by Chief Thomas

and took a vote to agree with the variance requested by Sheridan. Since we didn't have

quorum of all members, we agreed to email members who were not in attendance a chance for
them to ask additional questions and ultimately vote either in favor or not by June 1't of the

request.

The vote to recommend support of the variance to the BOC was unanimous in support. Note:

The committee had one member who failed to respond to the vote request.

On behalf of the Polk County ASA Committee, the committee recommends "support" of the

OHA variance requested by Sheridan Fire District.



u/J/zJ, /.J I AtVt co.poll(.or.us Mail - Request by Sheridan Fire Dishict for a OHA V

ATTACHMENT 1

Bender, Dean <bender.dean@co.potk.or.us>
PCJL t,T{TY

Request by Sheridan Fire District for a OHA Variance

l-es Thornas <lthomas@sheridanfd.org> Tue, Apr 29,2025 at 5:39 pM
To: "Bender, Dean" <bender.dean@co,polk.or.us>, Darrin George <DGeorge@cityofsalem.net>, Kyle Amsberry
<KAMSBERRY@cityofsalem.net>, Scott Magers <smagers@swpolkfd.org>, Carter Rickert <carterrickert@hotmail.com>,
John Heiser <John@heiserfarms.com>, Fred Hertel <fhertel@swpolkfd.org>, "Jeff R. Mathia" <jeffm@pacificwest.us.com>,
"AprilWallace (WELSH)" <APRlL.Wallace@dallasor.gov>, Steve Warden <sieve.warden@grandronde.org>, lan Wilson
<lWilson@cityofsalem.net>, Frank Ehrmantraut <ehrmantraut.frank@polkl.org>, Ben Stange <Stange.Ben@polkl.org>,
Robert Mock <Robert. Mock@grandronde.org>
Cc: Phill Riggs <pRiggs@sheridanfd.org>, Donna Hammer <dhammer@sheridanfd.org>, Tammy Heidt
<theidt@sheridanfd.org>

Dear Commissioners and Members of the Polk County ASA Board,

I am writinE to request a meeting to discuss and gain your support in implementing a variance to
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 820.330 to 820.380 and ORS chapter 682, specifically regarding
the staffing requirements for licensed ambulance services. As some may not be aware, Sheridan
Fire District will be making a staffing adjustment for the budget year 2025-2026. We will be
reducing our staffing from four full-time employees per day to three full{ime employees per day. To
fill the open position, we plan to use part-time firefighters/EMTs. This adjustment will allow us to
continue providing two ambulances for our ASA while addressing our most significant budget
deficit, which is staffing.

Our request for the vaniance pertains to the rare occasions when we do not have a part-time EMT
available to respond with our second-out ambulance. ln such cases, a certified OHA-approved
Emergency Medical Responder (EMR) will be utilized as a transport driver instead of an EMT.

Please see the attached official request letter to the ASA committee and the county
commissioners. The letter is more specific and contains all the criteria per OHA to apply for the
emergency variance.

lf approved, we will need a letter from the ASA committee to attach to our OHA request for a
variance. I have also attached the OHA letter for your review.

Thank you very much for considering our request, We look forward to discussing this more and
appreciate your support in ensuring we continue providing essential emergency medical services
to our community.

-['hank you,

Les Thomas
Fire Chief
Sheridan Fire District
Work Phone (503) 843-?-467
230 SW Mill St., Sheridan, Oregon 97378

"{)oming {ogcthur is u hcgiuning, sta.ying togethcr is progress, rutd worhing togethet' is rt srtcce,!',$'. " *.
{{enry Eroncn.

https://mail.google.com/mail/u l0l?ik=1d111691U66u;sw=pt&search=all&permmsgid=rnsg-f:183078601 5240391813&simpl=msgJ:1 83078601524039181 1t2



ATTACHMENT 2

Sheridan Fire Dismict
Balls ton / Buell / Sheriiclan

Proudly Serving Our Cornmunities Since 1886

Polk Gounty Cornmissioners
Folk ASA Boarcl

850 Main Street
DalNas, Oregon 97338

Dear Commissioners and Membens of the Polk ASA Board,

I am requesting permission to implement a variance to the Oregon Revised Statutes
(ORS) 820.330 to 820.380 and ORS chapter 682, specifically reEarding the staffing
requirements for licensed ambulance services. We plan to use EMRs only when our
ASA-compliant first-out ALS ambulance is unavailable (on a call or transporting) in
emergency staffirrg situations. The basic life-support capable second-out ambulance
would have a minimum of an EN/T or higher certification and an EMR (driver). Our
organization is facing unique financial challenges that necessitate this request, and we
believe that granting this variance will allow us to continue providing essential
emergency medical services to our community without compromising patient health and

safety.

Once approved by our commissioners and the ASA committee, an approval letter from
the Polk County,ASA committee and a variance request letter from the Sheridan Fire

District must be sent to OHA for approval. I have attached the separate letter that will be

sent to OHA requesting a variance for you to review.

Descrlption of Sipecial Cincurnstances

Our licensed ambulance service operates in a rural area with a significant shortage of
Emergency Medical Technicians (EMTs). Despite extensive recruitment efforts, we have
been unable to attract and retain sufficient EMTs due to the remote location and limited

financial resources. This shortage can lead to substantial delays in response times,
which could jeopardize patient health and safety.



Sheridan Fire District
Ballston / Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Cornmunities Since 1886

Proposed Variance

The proposed variance will allovtr us to continue operating two ambulances because of
our increasing call volume, which is multiple calls simultaneously. We propose to use 1

Emergency Medical Responder (EMR) and 1 EMT or higher certified instead of 2 EMTs
or higher to staff our second out ambulances. EMRs are trained to provide essential
pre-hospital care and stabilize patients until they reach a hospital. We will ensure that
EMRs receive additional training specific to our community's needs and implement strict
protocols to ensure patient safety.

lmpact on Fatient Health and Safety

We assure you that the proposed variance will not jeopardize patient health and safety.

Our plan includes:

J. Enhancecl Training for EMRs: EMRs will receive supplementary training to
cover advanced procedures typically performed by EMTs, along with regular
workshops and refresher courses.

2. Strict Protocols and Guide!ines: lmplementation of detailed SOPs to guide
EMRs in various emergency scenarios, along with regular audits and reviews of
EMR performance.

3. Collaboration with Advanced Life Support Units: Establishing a robust
communication system with nearby ALS units to ensure timely support and
intervention.

4. Monitoring and Evaluation: Tracking patient outcomes to assess the

effectiveness of EMR interventions and implementing a feedback system for
continuous improvement.

5. Community Engagement: Educating the community about the capabilities and
limitations of EMRs and building community support networks to assist EMRs in

emergencies, while recruiting additional EMTs and volunteers.

H



Sheridan Fire l)istrict
Ballsiton / Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

6. Emengenay Medicat Service Committee Oversight: Presenting progress reports to
the State Emergency Medical Service Committee for ongoing evaluation
and incorporating their recommendations.

Froposed Duration of Varlance

We request that the variance be granted for a period of one year. During this time, we
will work diligently to resolve the need for this variance. Our efforts will include:

1. Enhancerl Recruitment Efforts: Partnering with local schools and community
organizations to promote EMT careers and provide scholarships for training.

2. Training Programs: Accelerating the certification process for local residents
interested in becoming EMTs and offering additional training sessions.

3. Retention Strategies: lmplementing incentives such as competitive salaries,
housing assistance, and professional development opportunities to retain EMTs
in the corrmunity.

4. Monitoring and Evaluation: Regularly assess the effectiveness of the variance
and make necessary adjustments to ensure patient health and safety.

5. Grants: Staffing and Financial grants will be pursued.

By the end of the one-year period, we aim to have sufficient EMT staffing levels to
comply with the existing rules and eliminate the need for a variance.

Thank you for considering our request. We are committed to providing our community
with the highest level of care and believe that this variance is essential to achieving
that Eoal. We look forward to your favorable response.

Sincerety,

La-7-Zanaz-
Les Thomas

Fire Chief

Sheridan Fire District

anl

H



ATTACHMENT 3

Sheridan Fire District
Balls ton / Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

OreEon Health Authority

Fublic Health Division

EMS and Traunra System$

800 NE Oregon Street

Portland, OR 9V232

Dear Sir/Madam,

We are writinE to request a variance from the standards set forth in Oregon

Administrative Rule 333-250-0340, specifically regarding ORS E20.330 to

820.380, ORS chapter 682. As the licensed ambulance servlce provider for

Sheridan Rural Fire Protection District, we believe that compliance with this

rule is temporarily non-sustainable due to special circumstances that

render compliance difficult, burdensome, or impractical.

Description of $pecial Circumstances:

The special circumstances that justify this request are as follows:

" Description of Special Circumstances: Sheridan Fire District's

licensed ambulance service operates in a rural area with a significant

shortage of EMTs. Due to the remote location and limited resources,

recruiting and retaining EMTs have proven to be extremely

challenginrg. The community is facing an urgent need for ambulance

services, and the current staffing situation is causing substantial

H



Sheridan Fire District
Ballston / Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

a

delays in response times, which could jeopardize patient health and

safety.

The district faces persistent staffing shortages due to a reduced

force. The reduction in force is primarily due to larger organizations

offering wages and benefits that the Sheridan Fire District cannot

afford to compete against. Regional workforce trends and financial

constraints exacerbate the lack of available EMTs.

Gonsideration of Alternatives :

We have considered several alternatives to compliance, including:

Compliance with the Rule: Attempted to recruit EMTs through local

job fairs, online job postings, and partnerships with nearbv training

programs. Despite these efforts, the number of applicants has been

insufficient to meet the demand.

Temporary StaffinE Solutions: Considering hiring temporary EMTs

from neiEhboring regions, this approach was impractical due to high

costs and logistical challenges.

Training Local Residents: lnitiated a prograrrr to train local residents

as EMTs, but the traininE process is lengthy and cannot address the

immediate need for ambulance services.

a

o

(}



Sheridan Fire District
Ballston / Buell / Sheridan

Ptoudly Serving Out Communities Since 1886

lmpact on Patient Health and Safety:

We assure you that the proposed variance will not jeopardize patient health

and safety. Our plan includes:

1. Enhanced Training for EMRs:

Aclditional $kills: EMRs will receive supplementary training to

cover advanced procedures typically performed by EMTs.

Continuous Education: Regular workshops and refresher

courses to keep EMRs updated on best practices and new

medical protocols.

2. Strict Protocols and Guidelines:

Standard Operating Procedures: lmplementation of detailed

SOPs to guide EMRs in various emergency scenarios.

Quality Assurance: Regular audits and reviews of EMR

performance to ensure adherence to protocols.

o

a

a



Sheridan Fire District
Ballston f Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

3. Collaboration with Advanced Life Support Units:

Goordination: Establishing a robust communication system

with nearby ALS units to ensure timely support and intervention.

Backup Support: Ensuring that ALS units are on standby to

assist in critical situations.

o

4. Monitoring and Evaluation:

Patient Outcomes: Tracking patient outcomes to assess the

effectiveness of EMR interventions.

Feedback Mechanism: lmplementing a feedback system for

patients and healthcare providers to continuously improve

seruice quality.

a

o

a

a

5. Gommunity Engagement:

Public Awareness: Educating the community about the

capabilities and limitations of EMRs.

Support Networks: Building community support networks to

assist EMRs in emergency situations.

a



Sheridan Fire District
Balls ton / Euell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

6. Emergency Medical Service Committee Oversight:

" Regular Reviews: Presenting progress reports to the State

Emergency Medical Service Committee for ongoing evaluation.

. Recommendations: lncorporating recommendations from the

Committee to enhance patient safety and service quality.

By irnplementing these measures, we aim to ensure that the use of EMRs

will provide safe and effective emergency medical care, addressing the

immediate needs of our community while working towards a sustainable

solutionr.

Proposed Duration of Variance:

We request that the variance be granted for a period of one year. During

this time, we will work diligently to resolve the need for this variance. Our

efforts will include:

1 . Enhanced Recruitment Efforts:

" Partnering with local schools and community organizations to

promote EMT careers and provide scholarships for traininE.

" Expanding our recruitment reach to attract EMTs from

neighboring regions.



Sheridan Fire District
Balls ton f Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

2. Training Programs:

Accelerating the certification process for local residents

interested in becoming EMTs.

Cffering additional training sessions to increase the number of

quallfied EN/Ts.

a

3. Retention StrateEies:

lmplementing incentives such as competitive salaries, housing

assistance, and professional development opportunities to

retain EMTs in the community.

Creating a supportive work environment to improve job

satisfaction and reduce turnover.

4. Monitoring and Evaluation:

Regularly assessing the effectiveness of the variance and

making necessary adjustments to ensure patient health and

safety.

Providing progress reports to the State Emergency Medical

Service Committee for ongoing evaluation and feedback.

o

e

a

o



Sheridan Fire District
Balls ton / Buell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

By the end of the one-year period, we aim to have sufficient EMT staffing

levels to comply with the existing rules and eliminate the need for a

vanance.

Plan to Resolve Need for Future Variance:

Our detailed and realistic plan to resolve the need for a future

variance includes:

Compliance with the Rule: Attempted to recruit EMTs through local

job fairs, online job postings, and partnerships with nearby training

proErams. Despite these efforts, the number of applicants has been

insufficient to meet the demand.

a

o

o

(D

Temporary StaffinE Solutions: Considered hiring temporary EMTs

from neighboring regions, but this approach was found to be

lmpractical due to high costs and loEistical challenges.

TraininE Local Residents: lnitiated a proEram to train local residents

as EMTs, but the training process is lengthy and cannot address the

immediate need for ambulance services.

We have presented this request to the local governing body, and it

has given its approval for the proposed variance.



Sheridan Fire District
Ballston /Bluell / Sheridan

Proudly Serving Our Communities Since 1886

Tharrk you for considering our request. We look forward to your favorable

response.

Sincerely,

/--zt-'7Z"mz-

Les Thomas

Fire Chief

Sheridan Rural Fire Protection District

503-843 -2467

l-th o ma s@S h eri d a nfd . orE

H



 
CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET 

 
 

Staff Contact: Rosana Warren Rivera Phone Number (Ext): 2550 

Department: Health Services: Behavioral Health Consent Calendar Date: June 11, 2025 
 

Contractor Name: Lori Linton Nelson 
 

Address: PO BOX 886 

City, State, Zip: Aurora, OR 97002 
 

Effective Dates - From: July 01, 2025 Through: June 30, 2026 
 

Contract Amount: Varies 

 
Background: 

Lori Linton Nelson has agreed to provide Behavioral Health services to referred Polk County 
Behavioral Health individuals. 

 
Discussion: 

This contract is for the continuation of services Lori Linton Nelson has been providing Polk County 
individuals in the past fiscal years. Lori Linton Nelson meets the criteria for a service provider and 
has been cleared to work with us through a criminal history records review.  

 
Fiscal Impact: 

The Behavioral Health Services budget has sufficient expenditure authority to accommodate this 
contract. The fiscal year 2025-2026 Behavioral Health budget was prepared in anticipation of this 
Agreement.  

 
Recommendation: 

It is recommended that Polk County sign this Agreement with Lori Linton Nelson. 

 
Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following: 
Name: Rosana Warren Rivera E-mail: hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us 

Name:  E-mail:  

Name:  E-mail:  
 



CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 

CONTRACT NUMBER: 

COUNTY/DEPARTMENT: POLK COUNTY  

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

ID#: 93-6002310 

CONTACT PERSON: ROSANA WARREN 

DATE ISSUED: 5/20/2025 

CONTRACTOR LORI LINTON-NELSON 

PO BOX 886 

AURORA, OR 97002 

SSN/ID#: ON FILE 

CONTACT PERSON: LORI LINTON-NELSON 

SERVICES PROVIDED: To provide Nurse Practitioner services as outlined in Exhibit 

B. 

EFFECTIVE DATES: FROM JULY 01, 2025 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2026 

BUDGET LINE #: 240-8540-540-M83

DOLLAR AMOUNT: VARIES 

TERMS: Service Rates per Exhibit B 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS/INFORMATION: 

NOTIFY CONTRACTS TEAM IMMEDIATELY OF ANY CONTRACT TERMINATION 

HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us 

Polk County Contract No. 25-80

mailto:HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us


 

AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between 

POLK COUNTY 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

ID#: 93-6002310 

a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as "County" and 

LORI LINTON-NELSON 

PO BOX 886 

AURORA, OR 97002 

SSN/ID#: ON FILE 

hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"; and, 

WHEREAS, County is authorized to obtain, by contract, the services necessary to conduct its 

operation; and  

WHEREAS, Contractor has available, or can obtain, the necessary licenses or certificates 

required for the performance of said services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the parties above-mentioned, for and 

in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter stated as follows: 

SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

A. The County is desirous of securing the services of the Contractor to perform services 

more specifically outlined in Exhibit B: Statement of Work, based on Contractor’s 

specialty and capacity, and Polk County’s needs and capacity. 

B. The Contractor shall provide authorized services to Polk County referrals at Contractor’s 

facilities, Polk County Buildings on space available basis, and/or consumer’s school 

facility, work location, or home depending upon the needs of the individual.  Depending 

on the nature of services provided, the location of services may be curtailed by Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work. 

C. Services shall be provided in accordance with the document entitled Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work, which is attached and by reference herein, made an integral part of 

this Agreement. 

1 



 

SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 

A. As consideration for the services provided by the Contractor during the period beginning 

July 1, 2025, and ending June 30, 2026, payment shall be retroactive for approved 

services provided to Polk County referrals on or after the period beginning date. The 

Parties agree that the term of this agreement may be extended and any renewals and/or 

changes to this agreement must be submitted in writing, in the form of an amendment 

to this Contract and signed by both Parties. 

B. Agreement is effective upon the signature of all parties. It is understood by both parties 

that no commitments have been or are made by either party beyond the termination of 

the Agreement. 

C. The County will pay to the Contractor, by check(s) or ACH direct payment upon receipt of 

an authorized billing document at the rates outlined in Exhibit B and as approved by Polk 

County. Billings shall be submitted to HS Fiscal either electronically to 

hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us or by mail to  Polk County Health Services Business Services 

Department, 182 SW Academy Street Suite 204, Dallas, Oregon 97338. The County shall 

endeavor remit payment within 2-3 weeks of receipt of appropriate billing, supporting 

documentation and signed invoice. 

D. It is agreed that Contractor shall accept payment from Polk County as full and total 

payment for services and that Contractor shall not bill any Polk County clients (or their 

insurance) served under this agreement for services delivered hereunder. 

E. Contractor is engaged hereby as an independent contrac tor, and the services to be 

rendered are those of an independent contractor, subject to ORS Chapter 656, and will 

be so deemed for purposes of the following: 

i. Contractor will be solely responsible for payment of any Federal or State taxes 

required as a result of this Agreement. 

ii. This Agreement is not intended to entitle Contractor to any benefits generally 

granted to County employees. Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the 

benefits which are not intended to be extended by this Agreement to the Contractor 

are vacation, holiday and sick leave, other leaves with pay, tenure, medical and 

dental coverage, life and disability insurance, overtime, Social Security, workers' 

compensation, unemployment compensation or retirement benefits . 

iii. The Contractor is an independent contractor for purposes of the Oregon Workers' 

Compensation Law (ORS Chapter 656) and is solely liable for any Workers' 

2 

mailto:hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us


 

Compensation coverage under this Agreement.  If the Contractor has the assistance 

of other persons in the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall qualify 

and remain qualified for the term of this Agreement as a direct responsibility 

employer under ORS 656.407 or as a contrib uting employer under ORS 656.411. 

F. Exhibit A – Business Associate Agreement attached hereto is by this reference 

incorporated herein and made an integral part of this agreement. 

SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. Extent of Agreement: This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon 

by the parties.  No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter 

of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

B. Captions: The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no 

way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement. 

C. Payment as Sole Monetary Obligation of the County: The Contractor is engaged as an 

independent contractor.  Payment as provided herein shall be the sole monetary 

obliga tion of the County.  Unless otherwise specified, the responsi bility for payment of 

all operating costs, Federal, State, County or city taxes/assessments and any other 

charges imposed by law upon employers shall be the sole responsibility of the 

Contractor. 

D. Licensing and Program Standards: The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable 

State, County, and municipal standards for licensing, and any other standards or criteria 

described in this Agreement and its attachments. 

E. Contractor-client Relationship: The Contractor will establish a system through which a 

client and/or the client’s parents or guardian may represent grievances about the 

operation of the Contractor’s service program.  At the time arrangements are made for 

the Contractor’s service, the Contractor will advise the child and parents or guardian of 

the provision.  The Contractor shall notify the County of all unresolved grievances. 

F. Safeguarding of Client Information: 

i. The use or disclosure by any party of any information concern ing a recipient of 

services purchased under this Agreement, for any purpose not directly connected 

with the administra tion of the County's or the Contractor's responsibilities with 

respect to such purchased services, is prohibited, except on written consent of the 

County, or if the County is not the recipient, on written consent of the recipient or 

attorney, or otherwise compliant with Contractor’s obligations under Exhibit A. 

3 



 

ii. For the purposes of safeguarding protected client information, Contractor agrees to 

abide by all County rules and regulations regarding Communication technology as 

documented in the County’s Communications Technology Policy. Contractors 

providing services from a County facility will be provided appropriate County 

equipment to perform its duties under this agreement.  To the extent that Contractor 

elects to use their own technology (computer, cellular phone, etc…) Contractor 

warrants that such equipment shall be compliant with County rules and regulations, 

and its obligations under Exhibit A. 

G. Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Rehabilitation Act of 1973: The Contractor agrees to comply 

with the requirements of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and Section 504 of the 

Rehabilita tion Act of 1973, and their implementing Federal regulations, including 

Executive Order 11246 as amended. 

H. Fiscal Responsibility, Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: 

i. The Contractor agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to 

assure full compliance with Federal regulations and the County’s guidelines on 

allowable use of funds paid by the County under this Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor agrees to maintain fiscal records consistent with generally accepted 

accounting practices and controls, which will properly reflect all direct and indirect 

costs and funds expended in the performance of this Agreement. The Contractor 

shall make these records available at reasonable times upon request to State and 

Federal personnel, and other persons authorized by the County. 

iii. The Contractor agrees to collect financial statistics on a regular basis and to make 

financial reports at times in the form prescribed by the County. 

I. Program Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: The Contractor agrees 

to maintain program records including statistical records, and to provide program 

records to the County at times and in the form prescribed by the County.  The Contractor 

agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to assure full compliance 

with the program and facilities review (including meetings with consumers, reviews of 

service records, review of policy and procedures, review of staffing ratios and job 

descriptions, and meetings with any staff directly of indirectly involved in the provision 

of services) may be conducted at any reasonable time by State and Federal personnel 

and other persons authorized by the County. 

J. Retention of Records: The Contractor agrees to retain all books, records, and other 

documents relevant to this Agreement for three (3) years after final payment is made 

4 



 

under the Agreement or all pending matters are closed, whichever is later.  If litigation or 

other action involving the Agreement is started before the end of the three (3) year 

period, the records shall be retained until all issues arising out of the action are resolved 

or until the end of the three (3) year period, whichever is later. 

K. Insurance: 

i. Contractor agrees that it is an independent contractor and not an agent of the 

County. The Contractor and the County shall not be responsible for any legal liability, 

loss, malpractice, damages, costs and expenses arising in favor of any person on 

account of personal injuries, death or property loss or damage occurring, growing 

out of, incident to or resulting directly or indirectly from the acts or omissions of the 

other party under this Agreement. 

ii. Contractor shall obtain, and at all times keep in effect, comprehensive liability 

insurance and property damage insurance covering activities, operations, and 

omissions of the Contractor, all subcontractors, and all named additional insureds.  

Contractor may satisfy this requirement for general liability insurance in any manner 

allowed by ORS 30.282. Such liability insurance, whatever the form, shall be in an 

amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and three 

million dollars ($3,000,000) in the aggregate. In the event of unilateral cancellation 

or restriction by the insurance company of the Contractor's insurance policy referred 

to in this paragraph, the Contractor shall immediately notify the County verbally and 

in writing. 

iii. As evidence of the insurance coverage required by this Agreement, and prior to the 

execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall furnish a Certificate of Insurance to 

Polk County, to Polk County Health Services, 182 SW Academy Street, Suite 204, 

Dallas, Oregon 97338.  The Certificate form, to be completed by the Contractor's 

insurer, naming Polk County as additional insured, will be maintained in the County's 

file of this Agreement. 

iv. There shall not be any cancellation, material changes or failure to renew such 

insurance policy (policies) without thirty (30) days’ prior notice to the County. 

L. Subcontracting: Unless subcontracting is authorized elsewhere in the Agree ment, the 

Contractor shall not enter into any subcontracts for any of the work contemplated under 

this Agreement without obtaining prior written approval from the County, which 

approval shall be attached to the original Agreement. Approval by the County of a 

subcontract shall not result in any obligations of the County in addition to the agreed 

rates of payment and total consideration.  Any subcontracts which the County may 

5 



 

authorize shall contain all requirements of this Agreement, and the Contractor shall be 

responsible for the performance of the subcontractor. 

M. Re-negotiation or Modification: Any alterations, variations, modifications to or waivers 

of provisions of this Agreement shall be valid only when they have been reduced to 

writing, duly signed, and approved by the Contractor and the County and attached to 

the original of this Agreement. 

N. Excuses for Nonperformance: Neither party to this Agreement shall be held responsible 

for delay or failure in performance of the activities required herein when such delay or 

failure is due to causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the 

party.  Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, fire, flood, epidemic, strikes, 

acts of God or the public enemy, unusually severe weather, legal acts of public 

authorities, or delays or defaults caused by public carriers, which cannot reasonably be 

forecast or provided against.  Either party may terminate the Agreement after 

reasonably determining that such delay or failure will prevent continued performance of 

the Agreement, and after giving written notice to the other party of the cause, its effect 

on Agreement performance and effec tive date of termination.  If the Agreement is so 

terminated, the obligation of the County shall be limited to payment for services 

provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to the date of termination. 

O. Remedies: If the Contractor fails to provide the services or perform any of the other 

requirements under the Contract, and such failure is not excused under the paragraph 

titled "Excuses for Nonperformance", the County, after giving the Contractor written 

notice of such failure, may withhold part or all of the Contractor's payment for the 

services until such failure is corrected.  If the Contractor does not correct such failure 

within a reasonable time allowed by the County, the County may terminate the 

Agreement in accordance with the clause titled "Termination."  However, this paragraph, 

and any actions taken or not taken under it, shall not affect the County's rights under the 

"Termination" clause. 

P. Termination:This Agreement may be terminated by mutual consent of both parties or 

unilaterally by  either party at any time upon thirty (30) days’ notice to the other party in 

writing and delivered personally or by Certified Mail. The County may also unilaterally 

terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of written notice to the Contrac tor, or 

at such later date as may be established by the County, under any of the following 

conditions: 

i. If funds, specifically authorized by Legislative acts, do not become available in 

amounts sufficient to allow for purchase of the stated quantity of services.  When 

6 



 

possible and when agreed upon by the parties, the Agreement may be modified in 

accordance with the paragraph entitled “Re-negotiation or Modification” to 

accommodate a reduction in funds. 

ii. If Federal or State laws, regulations or guidelines are modified or changed in such a 

way that the services are no longer allowable or appropriate for purchase under this 

Agreement or no longer qualify for the funding proposed for payments authorized by 

this Agreement. 

iii. If any license or certificate required by law or regulation to be held by the Contractor 

to provide the services required by this Agreement is for any reason denied, revoked, 

not renewed, or changed in such a way that the Contractor no longer meets 

requirements for such license or certificate. 

iv. Termination under this clause shall be without prejudice to any obligations or 

liabilities of either party already reasonably incurred prior to such termination, 

except that the Contractor shall be solely responsible for its obligations or liabilities 

after the termination date, which obligations or liabilities result from the 

Contractor's failure to provide for termination of, or exercises the right to terminate, 

its commitments.  No right of action or damages shall accrue to the benefit of the 

Contractor if the Agreement is terminated under this clause. 

v. The County, by written notice of default (including breach of contract) to the 

Contractor, may terminate this Agreement: 

a. If the Contractor fails to provide the services called for by this Agreement within 

the time speci fied herein or any extension thereof granted by the County; or 

b. If the Contractor fails to perform any of the other requirements of this 

Agreement; or 

c. If the Contractor so fails to perform the work required in the Agreement that 

performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms is endan gered, and 

after receipt of written notice from the County specifying such failure, the 

Contractor fails to correct such failure within ten (10) days or such longer period 

as the County may authorize. 

vi. If the Agreement is terminated under this clause, the County's obligations shall be 

limited to payment for services provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to 

the date of termination, less any damages suffered by the County. The rights and 

remedies of the County in this clause related to defaults (including breach of 

7 



 

contract) by the Contractor shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other 

rights and remedies provided to the County by law or under this Agreement. 

Q. Hold Harmless: Except for claims arising in whole from the negligence of County, its 

employees or its agents, Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold County harmless from 

and against all actions, suits, claims and demands arising out of Contractor’s 

performance under this Contract and agrees to defend County in such actions, suits, 

claims and demands. 

R. Waiver of Default: Waiver of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent default.  Waiver of breach of any provision of the Agreement shall not be 

deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to 

be a modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such in writing, 

signed by an authorized representative of the County, and attached to the original 

Agreement in accordance with the paragraph entitled "Re-negotiation or Modification". 

S. Severability: The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity 

of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and 

obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not 

contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. 

T. Fees Prohibited: The Contractor will not impose or demand any fees from any person or 

agency for services provided and paid for under this Agreement, unless the fees have 

been approved in advance by the County in writing. 

U. Non-Discrimination: The Contractor acknowledges that they are an equal opportunity 

employer and no person shall be denied services or discrimi nated against on the basis of 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status or age, and 

there shall be no discrimination in the selection, compensation or the employ ment 

practices with respect to personnel coming under the auspices of the Contractor. 

V. Assignment of Agreement: The Contractor shall not assign or transfer its interest in this 

Agreement without prior written approval of the County, which shall be attached to the 

original Agreement.  Any such assignment, if approved, is subject to such conditions and 

provisions, as the County may deem necessary.  No approval by the County of any 

assignment or transfer of interest shall be deemed to create any obligation of the county 

in addition to the agreed rates of payment and total Agreement consideration. 

W. Funds Authorized and Available: The County certifies that at the time of signing this 

Agree ment, sufficient funds are authorized and available, or are anticipated to be 

8 



 

available, for expenditure to finance costs of this Agreement within the County's current 

appropri ation or limitation. 

X. Recovery of Overpayments: If billings under this Agreement, or under any Agreement 

between the Contractor and the County, result in payments to the Contractor for which 

the Contractor is not entitled under the terms of such Agreement, the County, after 

giving written notification to the Contractor, may withhold from payments due to the 

Contractor under this Agreement such amounts, over such periods of time, as are 

necessary to recover the amount of the overpayment. 

Y. Criminal History Records Checks: Contractor agrees to authorize a review of state and 

federal records by Polk County as a qualified entity, to determine the nature of any 

criminal activity the Contractor may have been involved in accordance with OAR 

943-007-001 for purposes described in OAR 407-007-0400. No work will be assigned to 

Contractor until a Criminal History Check is completed and verified by the qualified 

entity.  Contractor shall notify Polk County within five days of being arrested, charged, or 

convicted of any crime. 

SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 

A. Payment of Subcontractors, Industrial Accident Fund Contributions, Liens and 

Withholding Taxes: 

1. Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to such 

contractor labor or material for the prosecution of the work provided for in this 

contract. 

2. Contractor shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund 

from such contractor or subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract. 

3. Contractor shall not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the 

state, county, school district, municipality, Municipal Corporation or subdivisions 

thereof, on account of any labor or material furnished. 

4. Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from 

employees pursuant to ORS 316.167. 

B. Payment of Claims by County: If Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt 

payment of any claim for labor or services furnished to the contractor or a subcontractor 

by any person in connection with the public contract as such claim becomes due, the 

proper officer or officers representing Polk County may pay such claim to the person 

furnishing the labor or services and charge the amount of payment against funds due or 

9 



 

to become due the Contractor by reason of this contract.  Payment of a claim in this 

manner shall not relieve the contractor or contractor’s surety from obligation with 

respect to any unpaid claims. 

C. Hours of Labor: All laborers providing contract services shall be paid at least time and a 

half for all overtime worked in excess of 40 hours in any one week, except for individuals 

under these contracts who are excluded under ORS 653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 USC 

section 201 to 209 from receiving overtime. 

D. Payment for Medical Care: Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any 

person, co-partnership, association or corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and 

hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the 

employees for such Contractor, of all sums which the Contractor agrees to pay for such 

services and all moneys and sums which the contractor collected or deducted from the 

wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract or agreement for the purpose of 

providing or paying such service. 

E. Providing Workers’ Compensation Insurance: All employers working under this contract 

are subject employers who will comply with ORS 656.017. 

F. Health Care Benefits for Employees: The Contractor shall provide health care benefits to 

all employees who are performing services previously performed by public employees if 

the conditions specified in ORS 653.767 require such payment.  Benefits must equal or 

exceed those benefits specified in ORS 279.315(3).  This clause does not apply to 

contracts for temporary, non-ongoing or nonrecurring contracts. 

G. Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance: Contractor agrees that Contractor will 

comply and does comply with all relevant provisions of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, to the extent required by the Act. 

10 





 

EXHIBIT A:  

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

Between 

POLK COUNTY  and LORI LINTON-NELSON 

1. DEFINITIONS:  

Except as otherwise defined in this Business Associate Agreement (BA Agreement), any and 

all italicized terms herein shall have the same definition as those in the HIPAA Privacy Rule.1 

Henceforth, Polk County, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, shall be referred to as 

“COUNTY” and Lori Linton-Nelson, shall be referred to as “CONTRACTOR”. 

2. OBLIGATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF CONTRACTOR: 

A. CONTRACTOR agrees to not use or disclose Protected Health Information other than as 

permitted or required by this BA Agreement or as permitted or required by law. 

B. CONTRACTOR agrees to use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information other than as provided for by this BA Agreement. 

C. CONTRACTOR agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is 

known to CONTRACTOR of a use or disclosure of Protected Health Information by 

CONTRACTOR in violation of the requirements of this BA Agreement. 

D. CONTRACTOR agrees to report to the COUNTY any use or disclosure of the Protected 

Health Information not provided for by this BA Agreement of which it becomes aware. 

E. CONTRACTOR agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it 

provides Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by, 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY agrees to the same restrictions and conditions 

that apply through this BA Agreement to CONTRACTOR with respect to such 

information. 

F. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to provide access, at 

the request of the COUNTY, and in the time and manner necessary for reasonable 

compliance, to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set to the COUNTY 

1 The use and disclosure of protected health information in performance of Business Associate functions is 
governed by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164), 
referred to as the Privacy Rule, which were issued by the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
pursuant to Public Law 104-191, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). The use 
and disclosure of protected health information is also governed by laws of the State of Oregon and by other federal 
laws. 

12 



 

or, as directed by the COUNTY, to an Individual in order to meet the requirements under 

45 CFR § 164.524. 

G. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to make any 

amendment(s) to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set that the 

COUNTY directs or agrees to pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.526 at the request of 

CONTRACTOR, or an Individual, and in the time and manner necessary for reasonable 

compliance. 

H. CONTRACTOR agrees to make internal practices, books, and records, including policies 

and procedures and Protected Health Information, relating to the use and disclosure of 

Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by CONTRACTOR on 

behalf of the COUNTY available to the COUNTY or to the Secretary of the Department of 

Health and Human Services, in a time and manner agreed between the COUNTY and 

CONTRACTOR or designated by the Secretary, for purposes of the Secretary determining 

the COUNTY’S compliance with the Privacy Rule. 

I. CONTRACTOR agrees to document such disclosures of Protected Health Information and 

information related to such disclosures as would be required for the COUNTY to respond 

to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health 

Information in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

J. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide to the COUNTY or an Individual, in the time and manner 

necessary for reasonable compliance, information collected in accordance with section 

2.A of this BA Agreement, to permit the COUNTY to respond to a request by an 

Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health Information in 

accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

3. PERMITTED USES AND DISCLOSURES BY CONTRACTOR: Except as otherwise limited in this 

BA Agreement, CONTRACTOR may use or disclose Protected Health Information to perform 

certain health plan functions for or on behalf of the COUNTY as specified in the Polk County 

Agreement and in this BA Agreement provided that such use or disclosure would not violate 

the Privacy Rule if done by the COUNTY or the minimum necessary policies and procedures 

of the COUNTY. 

4. OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY: 

A. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any limitation(s) in the Notice of Privacy 

Practices of the COUNTY in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.520, to the extent that such 

limitation may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

13 



 

B. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any changes in, or revocation of, permission by 

Individual to use or disclose Protected Health Information, to the extent that such 

changes may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

C. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any restriction to the use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information that the COUNTY has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 

§ 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or 

disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

5. PERMISSIBLE REQUESTS BY THE COUNTY: The COUNTY shall not request CONTRACTOR to 

use or disclose Protected Health Information in any manner that would not be permissible 

under the Privacy Rule if done by the COUNTY except if such use or disclosure is permitted 

under the Agreement between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR. 

6. TERM AND TERMINATION: 

A. Term. This BA Agreement shall be effective as of July 01, 2025, and shall terminate when 

all of the Protected Health Information provided by the COUNTY to CONTRACTOR, or 

created or received by CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY, is destroyed or returned 

to the COUNTY, or, if it is infeasible to return or destroy Protected Health Information, 

protections are extended to such information, in accordance with the termination 

provisions in this Section. 

B. Termination for Cause. Upon the COUNTY’S knowledge of a material breach by 

CONTRACTOR, the COUNTY shall either: 

i. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to cure the breach without the 

intervention of the COUNTY within the timeline specified in Section III (P) of the Polk 

County Agreement; or 

ii. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to terminate this BA Agreement and the 

Polk County Agreement within the timeline specified in Section III of the Polk County 

Agreement. At the direction of its Board of Directors, the COUNTY may terminate 

this BA Agreement and the Polk County Agreement as permitted in Section III of the 

Polk County Agreement if CONTRACTOR has not cured the breach upon conclusion of 

the technical assistance and corrective action described in paragraph (i.) of this 

section; or 

iii. If neither termination nor cure is feasible, the COUNTY shall report the violation to 

the Secretary. 

14 



 

C. Effect of Termination. 

i. Except as provided in paragraph (ii.) of this section, upon termination of this BA 

Agreement, for any reason, CONTRACTOR shall return or destroy all Protected Health 

Information received from the COUNTY, or created or received by CONTRACTOR on 

behalf of the COUNTY. This provision shall apply to Protected Health Information that 

is in the possession of subcontractors or agents of CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall 

retain no copies of the Protected Health Information. 

ii.  In the event that CONTRACTOR determines that returning or destroying the 

Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall provide to the 

COUNTY written notification of the conditions that make return or destruction 

infeasible. Upon written acknowledgement by the COUNTY that the return or 

destruction of Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall extend 

the protections of this BA Agreement to such Protected Health Information and limit 

further uses and disclosures of such Protected Health Information to those purposed 

that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as CONTRACTOR maintains 

such Protected Health Information. 

7. MISCELLANEOUS: 

A. Regulatory References. References in this BA Agreement to the Privacy Rule or any 

section of the Privacy Rule means the Privacy Rule or section as in effect or as amended. 

B. Amendment. The COUNTY and CONTRACTOR agree to take such action as is necessary to 

amend this BA Agreement from time to time as is necessary for the COUNTY to comply 

with the requirement of the Privacy Rule and HIPAA. 

C. Survival. The respective rights and obligations of CONTRACTOR under Section 6.C of this 

BA Agreement shall survive the termination of this BA Agreement. 

D. Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this BA Agreement shall be resolved to permit the 

COUNTY to comply with the Privacy Rule. In the event of any inconsistency between the 

provisions of this BA Agreement and the mandatory provisions of the Privacy Rule, the 

Privacy Rule shall control. Where laws in the State of Oregon or other federal law is 

more stringent than the Privacy Rule, the more stringent Oregon or federal law shall 

control. 

 

 

15 



 

8. SECURITY RULE BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT LANGUAGE: 

A. Background Requirement: The COUNTY, in accordance with § 164.306 and § 164.308 (b), 

may permit the CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic 

Protected Health Information on the COUNTY’S behalf only if the COUNTY obtains 

satisfactory assurances, in accordance with § 164.314(a) that the CONTRACTOR will 

appropriately safeguard the information. The COUNTY must document the satisfactory 

assurances through a written contract or other arrangement with the CONTRACTOR. 

B. Part I. Security Assurances: The CONTRACTOR will Implement administrative, physical, 

and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, 

integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health information that it creates, 

receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of the COUNTY as required by the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the requirements of Health 

Insurance Reform, the Security Standards (45CFR Parts 160, 162 & 164); 

i. Ensure that any agent, including a SUBCONTRACTOR, to whom it provides such 

information, agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect 

it. 

ii. Report to the COUNTY any security incident of which it becomes aware. 

iii.  Authorize termination of the contract by the COUNTY, if the COUNTY determines 

that the business associate has violated a material term of the contract. 

C. Part II. Other arrangements: When the COUNTY and the CONTRACTOR are both 

governmental entities, the COUNTY is in compliance with the requirements if: 

i. It enters into a memorandum of understanding with the CONTRACTOR that contains 

terms that accomplish the objectives of Part I.; or 

ii. Other law (including regulations adopted by the COUNTY or the CONTRACTOR) 

contains requirements applicable to the CONTRACTOR that accomplish the 

objectives of Part I. 

D. If the CONTRACTOR is required by law to perform a function or activity on behalf of the 

COUNTY or to provide a service described in the definition of CONTRACTOR as specified 

in § 160.103 of the regulation to the COUNTY, the COUNTY may permit the 

CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic Protected Health 

Information on its behalf to the extent necessary to comply with the legal mandate 

without meeting the requirements of Part I., although the COUNTY will attempt in good 

16 



 

faith to obtain satisfactory assurances as required by Part I. (A), and will document the 

attempt and the reasons that these assurances cannot be obtained, if not obtained.

17 



 

EXHIBIT B: 

 STATEMENT OF WORK 

POLK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon and, LORI LINTON-NELSON, 

hereinafter called “Contractor,” hereby agree to the following: 

1. STATEMENT OF SERVICES 

A. Contractor agrees to work within scope, training and experience as a Licensed 

Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner, to provide services, support and training that meets the 

needs of both Contractor and County as evidenced by the Service Authorization and 

Activity form. 

B. Contractor shall perform all services deemed necessary in their professional opinion 

based upon their training, education and expertise as evidenced in the application 

materials and other professional endorsements, notwithstanding any limitations set 

forth in this agreement. 

C. Contractor shall only use methods or techniques in which the Contractor has 

documented training, education and expertise.  Contractor will ensure services provided 

are within rules and guidelines of Oregon Health Authority, Health Services Division: 

Behavioral Health Services, Chapter 309-019 and the Oregon State Board of Nursing. 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A. Contractors must provide primary source verification of credentials.  No work will be 

assigned to Contractors who render direct service to clients or patients until credentials 

have been validated for Medicaid claims. 

B. Annual requirements mandate that the Contractor will submit a conflict of Interest 

Statement. Contractor queries of the OIG and EPLS List of Excluded Individuals/Entities 

database will also be performed annually. Bases for exclusion include convictions for 

program-related fraud and patient abuse, licensing board actions and default on Health 

Education Assistance Loans. It is the expectation that the Contractor will maintain 

credentialing required to perform job duties in good standing.  It is the responsibility of 

the Contractor to report any circumstances that would jeopardize this standing or lead 

to exclusionary status. Failure to do so may lead to contract termination.  

C. Contractor agrees to report cases of suspected Medicaid, Medicare fraud, waste, or 

abuse to the PCBH Compliance Officer at 503-623-9289.  If there is reason to believe 

that PCBH cannot respond appropriately to a suspected case of fraud, waste, or abuse, 

or if the case involves PCBH, then Contractor agrees to make a report to Ethicspoint at 

18 



 

888-265-4068. 

D. County may conduct performance reviews annually to assess Contractor’s performance 

as it relates to the services required under this contract. 

E. Absences: 

i. Contractor shall notify the County at least five (5) business days in advance for all 

anticipated extended absences (i.e. vacations, professional meetings, etc.). 

ii. Contractor shall notify the County of unplanned absences (ie: illness or other 

unforeseen events) at least one hour prior to expected work time. 

F. Contractor agrees to provide 10 business day notice of changes to their clinic schedule 

availability. 

G. All client records are considered the property of the County and shall not be retained by 

the Contractor. Contractor shall have all service notes and documentation completed 

within three business days of service encounter.  Contractor shall maintain client/patient 

records and documentation within CMS guidelines. 

H. Contractor may elect to use the electronic health record system supported by the 

County. Contractor shall provide County with a Certificate of Electronic Health Record 

Technology (CEHRT) when Contractor elects to use a system that is not supported by the 

County or Oregon Health Authority. 

I. Documents that are required for billing shall be submitted three days after the close of 

business on the last weekday of each month. Documentation found to be out of 

compliance with County and/or State guidelines shall be corrected within ten (10) 

business days. 

J. Billable service notes shall meet documentation standards in accordance with OAR 

309-019-0135 through 309-019-0145. 

K. Contractor is required to receive two hours of clinical supervision quarterly, which shall 

include at least one hour of individual face-to-face contact either in person or via 

two-way audio visual conferencing from a qualified clinical supervisor. Contractor will be 

required to provide documentation of supervision received, if obtained by a Clinical 

Supervisor Outside of County. Failure to do so may lead to contract termination. 

 

 

19 



 

3. AUTHORIZED SERVICES 

A. County will only pay for service and activities that have been pre authorized and agreed 

upon in writing by both parties on a Service and Activity Authorization Form. 

B. County will authorize services based on Level of Care as outlined in the Individual 

Service Plan. All services submitted for payment must be supported by the Individual 

Service Plan and verified by the County to be compliant with applicable regulations. 

4. RATES AND METHOD OF PAY 

A. County shall reimburse the Contractor at the rate of $162.00 per hour for onsite Clinic 

Service Hour availability and a rate of $150.00 per hour for remote Clinic Service Hour 

availability, as outlined in the Service Activity Authorization form with Clinic Service 

Hours paid to the nearest quarter hour upon receipt of an invoice. 

B. County will have no legal obligation to pay for any unauthorized services, including 

unauthorized expenditures. 

20 



 
CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET 

 
 

Staff Contact: Rosana Warren Rivera Phone Number (Ext): 2550 

Department: Health Services: Public Health Consent Calendar Date: June 11, 2025 
 

Contractor Name: Woodwinds West, LLC 
 

Address: 643 NE Kerns Drive 

City, State, Zip: Dallas, OR 97338 
 

Effective Dates - From: July 01, 2025 Through: June 30, 2026 
 

Contract Amount: VARIES 

 
Background: 

Nancy Hamalian, through Woodwinds West, LLC, has agreed to provide Community Health 
Registered Nursing services to referred Polk County Public Health individuals. 
 

 
Discussion: 

This contract is for the continuation of services Woodwinds West, LLC has been providing Polk 
County individuals in the past fiscal years. Nancy Hamalian meets the criteria for a service provider 
and has been cleared to work with us through a criminal history records review. 
 

 
Fiscal Impact: 

The Public Health Services budget has sufficient expenditure authority to accommodate this 
contract. The fiscal year 2025-26 Public Health budget was prepared in anticipation of this 
agreement. 
 

 
Recommendation: 

It is recommended that Polk County sign this agreement with Woodwinds West, LLC.  
 

 
Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following: 
Name: Rosana Warren Rivera E-mail: hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us 

Name:  E-mail:  
 



CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 

CONTRACT NUMBER: 

COUNTY/DEPARTMENT: POLK COUNTY  

PUBLIC HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

EI#: 93-6002310 

CONTACT PERSON: ROSANA WARREN RIVERA 

DATE ISSUED: 5/20/2025 

CONTRACTOR WOODWINDS WEST, LLC 

643 NE KERNS DRIVE 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

EI#: 99-4523439 

CONTACT PERSON: NANCY HAMALIAN 

SERVICES PROVIDED: To provide Registered Nurse services as described in Exhibit 

B.  

EFFECTIVE DATES: FROM JULY 01, 2025 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2026 

BUDGET LINE #: 235-8540-VARIES

DOLLAR AMOUNT: VARIES 

TERMS: Service Rates per Exhibit B 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS/INFORMATION: 

NOTIFY CONTRACTS TEAM IMMEDIATELY OF ANY CONTRACT TERMINATION 

HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us 

Polk County Contract No. 25-81

mailto:HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us


 

AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between 

POLK COUNTY 

PUBLIC HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

EI#: 93-6002310 

a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as "County" and 

WOODWINDS WEST, LLC 

643 NE KERNS DRIVE 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

EI#: 99-4523439 

hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"; and, 

WHEREAS, County is authorized to obtain, by contract, the services necessary to conduct its 

operation; and  

WHEREAS, Contractor has available, or can obtain, the necessary licenses or certificates 

required for the performance of said services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the parties above-mentioned, for and 

in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter stated as follows: 

SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

A. The County is desirous of securing the services of the Contractor to perform services 

more specifically outlined in Exhibit B: Statement of Work, based on Contractor’s 

specialty and capacity, and Polk County’s needs and capacity. 

B. The Contractor shall provide authorized services to Polk County referrals at Contractor’s 

facilities, Polk County Buildings on space available basis, and/or consumer’s school 

facility, work location, or home depending upon the needs of the individual.  Depending 

on the nature of services provided, the location of services may be curtailed by Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work. 

C. Services shall be provided in accordance with the document entitled Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work, which is attached and by reference herein, made an integral part of 

this Agreement. 

1 



 

SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 

A. As consideration for the services provided by the Contractor during the period beginning 

July 01, 2025, and ending June 30, 2026, payment shall be retroactive for approved 

services provided to Polk County referrals on or after the period beginning date. The 

Parties agree that the term of this agreement may be extended and any renewals and/or 

changes to this agreement must be submitted in writing, in the form of an amendment 

to this Contract and signed by both Parties. 

B. Agreement is effective upon the signature of all parties. It is understood by both parties 

that no commitments have been or are made by either party beyond the termination of 

the Agreement. 

C. The County will pay to the Contractor, by check(s) or ACH direct payment upon receipt of 

an authorized billing document at the rates outlined in Exhibit B and as approved by Polk 

County. Billings shall be submitted to HS Fiscal either electronically to 

hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us or by mail to  Polk County Health Services Business Services 

Department, 182 SW Academy Street Suite 204, Dallas, Oregon 97338. The County shall 

endeavor remit payment within 2-3 weeks of receipt of appropriate billing, supporting 

documentation and signed invoice. 

D. It is agreed that Contractor shall accept payment from Polk County as full and total 

payment for services and that Contractor shall not bill any Polk County clients (or their 

insurance) served under this agreement for services delivered hereunder. 

E. Contractor is engaged hereby as an independent contrac tor, and the services to be 

rendered are those of an independent contractor, subject to ORS Chapter 656, and will 

be so deemed for purposes of the following: 

i. Contractor will be solely responsible for payment of any Federal or State taxes 

required as a result of this Agreement. 

ii. This Agreement is not intended to entitle Contractor to any benefits generally 

granted to County employees. Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the 

benefits which are not intended to be extended by this Agreement to the Contractor 

are vacation, holiday and sick leave, other leaves with pay, tenure, medical and 

dental coverage, life and disability insurance, overtime, Social Security, workers' 

compensation, unemployment compensation or retirement benefits . 

iii. The Contractor is an independent contractor for purposes of the Oregon Workers' 

Compensation Law (ORS Chapter 656) and is solely liable for any Workers' 

2 

mailto:hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us


 

Compensation coverage under this Agreement.  If the Contractor has the assistance 

of other persons in the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall qualify 

and remain qualified for the term of this Agreement as a direct responsibility 

employer under ORS 656.407 or as a contrib uting employer under ORS 656.411. 

F. Exhibit A – Business Associate Agreement attached hereto is by this reference 

incorporated herein and made an integral part of this agreement. 

SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. Extent of Agreement: This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon 

by the parties.  No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter 

of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

B. Captions: The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no 

way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement. 

C. Payment as Sole Monetary Obligation of the County: The Contractor is engaged as an 

independent contractor.  Payment as provided herein shall be the sole monetary 

obliga tion of the County.  Unless otherwise specified, the responsi bility for payment of 

all operating costs, Federal, State, County or city taxes/assessments and any other 

charges imposed by law upon employers shall be the sole responsibility of the 

Contractor. 

D. Licensing and Program Standards: The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable 

State, County, and municipal standards for licensing, and any other standards or criteria 

described in this Agreement and its attachments. 

E. Contractor-client Relationship: The Contractor will establish a system through which a 

client and/or the client’s parents or guardian may represent grievances about the 

operation of the Contractor’s service program.  At the time arrangements are made for 

the Contractor’s service, the Contractor will advise the child and parents or guardian of 

the provision.  The Contractor shall notify the County of all unresolved grievances. 

F. Safeguarding of Client Information: 

i. The use or disclosure by any party of any information concern ing a recipient of 

services purchased under this Agreement, for any purpose not directly connected 

with the administra tion of the County's or the Contractor's responsibilities with 

respect to such purchased services, is prohibited, except on written consent of the 

County, or if the County is not the recipient, on written consent of the recipient or 

attorney, or otherwise compliant with Contractor’s obligations under Exhibit A. 

3 



 

ii. For the purposes of safeguarding protected client information, Contractor agrees to 

abide by all County rules and regulations regarding Communication technology as 

documented in the County’s Communications Technology Policy. Contractors 

providing services from a County facility will be provided appropriate County 

equipment to perform its duties under this agreement.  To the extent that Contractor 

elects to use their own technology (computer, cellular phone, etc…) Contractor 

warrants that such equipment shall be compliant with County rules and regulations, 

and its obligations under Exhibit A. 

G. Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Rehabilitation Act of 1973: The Contractor agrees to comply 

with the requirements of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and Section 504 of the 

Rehabilita tion Act of 1973, and their implementing Federal regulations, including 

Executive Order 11246 as amended. 

H. Fiscal Responsibility, Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: 

i. The Contractor agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to 

assure full compliance with Federal regulations and the County’s guidelines on 

allowable use of funds paid by the County under this Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor agrees to maintain fiscal records consistent with generally accepted 

accounting practices and controls, which will properly reflect all direct and indirect 

costs and funds expended in the performance of this Agreement. The Contractor 

shall make these records available at reasonable times upon request to State and 

Federal personnel, and other persons authorized by the County. 

iii. The Contractor agrees to collect financial statistics on a regular basis and to make 

financial reports at times in the form prescribed by the County. 

I. Program Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: The Contractor agrees 

to maintain program records including statistical records, and to provide program 

records to the County at times and in the form prescribed by the County.  The Contractor 

agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to assure full compliance 

with the program and facilities review (including meetings with consumers, reviews of 

service records, review of policy and procedures, review of staffing ratios and job 

descriptions, and meetings with any staff directly of indirectly involved in the provision 

of services) may be conducted at any reasonable time by State and Federal personnel 

and other persons authorized by the County. 

J. Retention of Records: The Contractor agrees to retain all books, records, and other 

documents relevant to this Agreement for three (3) years after final payment is made 

4 



 

under the Agreement or all pending matters are closed, whichever is later.  If litigation or 

other action involving the Agreement is started before the end of the three (3) year 

period, the records shall be retained until all issues arising out of the action are resolved 

or until the end of the three (3) year period, whichever is later. 

K. Insurance: 

i. Contractor agrees that it is an independent contractor and not an agent of the 

County. The Contractor and the County shall not be responsible for any legal liability, 

loss, malpractice, damages, costs and expenses arising in favor of any person on 

account of personal injuries, death or property loss or damage occurring, growing 

out of, incident to or resulting directly or indirectly from the acts or omissions of the 

other party under this Agreement. 

ii. Contractor shall obtain, and at all times keep in effect, comprehensive liability 

insurance and property damage insurance covering activities, operations, and 

omissions of the Contractor, all subcontractors, and all named additional insureds.  

Contractor may satisfy this requirement for general liability insurance in any manner 

allowed by ORS 30.282. Such liability insurance, whatever the form, shall be in an 

amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and three 

million dollars ($3,000,000) in the aggregate. In the event of unilateral cancellation 

or restriction by the insurance company of the Contractor's insurance policy referred 

to in this paragraph, the Contractor shall immediately notify the County verbally and 

in writing. 

iii. As evidence of the insurance coverage required by this Agreement, and prior to the 

execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall furnish a Certificate of Insurance to 

Polk County, to Polk County Health Services, 182 SW Academy Street, Suite 204, 

Dallas, Oregon 97338.  The Certificate form, to be completed by the Contractor's 

insurer, naming Polk County as additional insured, will be maintained in the County's 

file of this Agreement. 

iv. There shall not be any cancellation, material changes or failure to renew such 

insurance policy (policies) without thirty (30) days’ prior notice to the County. 

L. Subcontracting: Unless subcontracting is authorized elsewhere in the Agree ment, the 

Contractor shall not enter into any subcontracts for any of the work contemplated under 

this Agreement without obtaining prior written approval from the County, which 

approval shall be attached to the original Agreement. Approval by the County of a 

subcontract shall not result in any obligations of the County in addition to the agreed 

rates of payment and total consideration.  Any subcontracts which the County may 

5 



 

authorize shall contain all requirements of this Agreement, and the Contractor shall be 

responsible for the performance of the subcontractor. 

M. Re-negotiation or Modification: Any alterations, variations, modifications to or waivers 

of provisions of this Agreement shall be valid only when they have been reduced to 

writing, duly signed, and approved by the Contractor and the County and attached to 

the original of this Agreement. 

N. Excuses for Nonperformance: Neither party to this Agreement shall be held responsible 

for delay or failure in performance of the activities required herein when such delay or 

failure is due to causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the 

party.  Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, fire, flood, epidemic, strikes, 

acts of God or the public enemy, unusually severe weather, legal acts of public 

authorities, or delays or defaults caused by public carriers, which cannot reasonably be 

forecast or provided against.  Either party may terminate the Agreement after 

reasonably determining that such delay or failure will prevent continued performance of 

the Agreement, and after giving written notice to the other party of the cause, its effect 

on Agreement performance and effec tive date of termination.  If the Agreement is so 

terminated, the obligation of the County shall be limited to payment for services 

provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to the date of termination. 

O. Remedies: If the Contractor fails to provide the services or perform any of the other 

requirements under the Contract, and such failure is not excused under the paragraph 

titled "Excuses for Nonperformance", the County, after giving the Contractor written 

notice of such failure, may withhold part or all of the Contractor's payment for the 

services until such failure is corrected.  If the Contractor does not correct such failure 

within a reasonable time allowed by the County, the County may terminate the 

Agreement in accordance with the clause titled "Termination."  However, this paragraph, 

and any actions taken or not taken under it, shall not affect the County's rights under the 

"Termination" clause. 

P. Termination: This Agreement may be terminated by mutual consent of both parties or 

unilaterally by  either party at any time upon thirty (30) days’ notice to the other party in 

writing and delivered personally or by Certified Mail.  The County may also unilaterally 

terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of written notice to the Contrac tor, or 

at such later date as may be established by the County, under any of the following 

conditions: 

i. If funds, specifically authorized by Legislative acts, do not become available in 

amounts sufficient to allow for purchase of the stated quantity of services.  When 

6 



 

possible and when agreed upon by the parties, the Agreement may be modified in 

accordance with the paragraph entitled “Re-negotiation or Modification” to 

accommodate a reduction in funds. 

ii. If Federal or State laws, regulations or guidelines are modified or changed in such a 

way that the services are no longer allowable or appropriate for purchase under this 

Agreement or no longer qualify for the funding proposed for payments authorized by 

this Agreement. 

iii. If any license or certificate required by law or regulation to be held by the Contractor 

to provide the services required by this Agreement is for any reason denied, revoked, 

not renewed, or changed in such a way that the Contractor no longer meets 

requirements for such license or certificate. 

iv. Termination under this clause shall be without prejudice to any obligations or 

liabilities of either party already reasonably incurred prior to such termination, 

except that the Contractor shall be solely responsible for its obligations or liabilities 

after the termination date, which obligations or liabilities result from the 

Contractor's failure to provide for termination of, or exercises the right to terminate, 

its commitments.  No right of action or damages shall accrue to the benefit of the 

Contractor if the Agreement is terminated under this clause. 

v. The County, by written notice of default (including breach of contract) to the 

Contractor, may terminate this Agreement: 

a. If the Contractor fails to provide the services called for by this Agreement within 

the time speci fied herein or any extension thereof granted by the County; or 

b. If the Contractor fails to perform any of the other requirements of this 

Agreement; or 

c. If the Contractor so fails to perform the work required in the Agreement that 

performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms is endan gered, and 

after receipt of written notice from the County specifying such failure, the 

Contractor fails to correct such failure within ten (10) days or such longer period 

as the County may authorize. 

vi. If the Agreement is terminated under this clause, the County's obligations shall be 

limited to payment for services provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to 

the date of termination, less any damages suffered by the County. The rights and 

remedies of the County in this clause related to defaults (including breach of 

7 



 

contract) by the Contractor shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other 

rights and remedies provided to the County by law or under this Agreement. 

Q. Hold Harmless: Except for claims arising in whole from the negligence of County, its 

employees or its agents, Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold County harmless from 

and against all actions, suits, claims and demands arising out of Contractor’s 

performance under this Contract and agrees to defend County in such actions, suits, 

claims and demands. 

R. Waiver of Default: Waiver of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent default.  Waiver of breach of any provision of the Agreement shall not be 

deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to 

be a modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such in writing, 

signed by an authorized representative of the County, and attached to the original 

Agreement in accordance with the paragraph entitled "Re-negotiation or Modification". 

S. Severability: The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity 

of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and 

obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not 

contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. 

T. Fees Prohibited: The Contractor will not impose or demand any fees from any person or 

agency for services provided and paid for under this Agreement, unless the fees have 

been approved in advance by the County in writing. 

U. Non-Discrimination: The Contractor acknowledges that they are an equal opportunity 

employer and no person shall be denied services or discrimi nated against on the basis of 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status or age, and 

there shall be no discrimination in the selection, compensation or the employ ment 

practices with respect to personnel coming under the auspices of the Contractor. 

V. Assignment of Agreement: The Contractor shall not assign or transfer its interest in this 

Agreement without prior written approval of the County, which shall be attached to the 

original Agreement.  Any such assignment, if approved, is subject to such conditions and 

provisions, as the County may deem necessary.  No approval by the County of any 

assignment or transfer of interest shall be deemed to create any obligation of the county 

in addition to the agreed rates of payment and total Agreement consideration. 

W. Funds Authorized and Available: The County certifies that at the time of signing this 

Agree ment, sufficient funds are authorized and available, or are anticipated to be 

8 



 

available, for expenditure to finance costs of this Agreement within the County's current 

appropri ation or limitation. 

X. Recovery of Overpayments: If billings under this Agreement, or under any Agreement 

between the Contractor and the County, result in payments to the Contractor for which 

the Contractor is not entitled under the terms of such Agreement, the County, after 

giving written notification to the Contractor, may withhold from payments due to the 

Contractor under this Agreement such amounts, over such periods of time, as are 

necessary to recover the amount of the overpayment. 

Y. Criminal History Records Checks: Contractor agrees to authorize a review of state and 

federal records by Polk County as a qualified entity, to determine the nature of any 

criminal activity the Contractor may have been involved in accordance with OAR 

943-007-001 for purposes described in OAR 407-007-0400. No work will be assigned to 

Contractor until a Criminal History Check is completed and verified by the qualified 

entity.  Contractor shall notify Polk County within five days of being arrested, charged, or 

convicted of any crime. 

SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 

A. Payment of Subcontractors, Industrial Accident Fund Contributions, Liens and 

Withholding Taxes: 

i. Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to such 

contractor labor or material for the prosecution of the work provided for in this 

contract. 

ii. Contractor shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund 

from such contractor or subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract. 

iii. Contractor shall not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the 

state, county, school district, municipality, Municipal Corporation or subdivisions 

thereof, on account of any labor or material furnished. 

iv. Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from 

employees pursuant to ORS 316.167. 

B. Payment of Claims by County: If Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt 

payment of any claim for labor or services furnished to the contractor or a subcontractor 

by any person in connection with the public contract as such claim becomes due, the 

proper officer or officers representing Polk County may pay such claim to the person 

furnishing the labor or services and charge the amount of payment against funds due or 

9 



 

to become due the Contractor by reason of this contract.  Payment of a claim in this 

manner shall not relieve the contractor or contractor’s surety from obligation with 

respect to any unpaid claims. 

C. Hours of Labor: All laborers providing contract services shall be paid at least time and a 

half for all overtime worked in excess of 40 hours in any one week, except for individuals 

under these contracts who are excluded under ORS 653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 USC 

section 201 to 209 from receiving overtime. 

D. Payment for Medical Care: Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any 

person, co-partnership, association or corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and 

hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the 

employees for such Contractor, of all sums which the Contractor agrees to pay for such 

services and all moneys and sums which the contractor collected or deducted from the 

wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract or agreement for the purpose of 

providing or paying such service. 

E. Providing Workers’ Compensation Insurance: All employers working under this contract 

are subject employers who will comply with ORS 656.017. 

F. Health Care Benefits for Employees: The Contractor shall provide health care benefits to 

all employees who are performing services previously performed by public employees if 

the conditions specified in ORS 653.767 require such payment.  Benefits must equal or 

exceed those benefits specified in ORS 279.315(3).  This clause does not apply to 

contracts for temporary, non-ongoing or nonrecurring contracts. 

G. Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance: Contractor agrees that Contractor will 

comply and does comply with all relevant provisions of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, to the extent required by the Act. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

10 



 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

BY SIGNATURE BELOW, both parties agree to and accept all terms and conditions of this 

Agreement between County and Contractor along with the following: 

● Exhibit A: Business Associate Agreement 

● Exhibit B: Statement of Work 

 

CONTRACTOR 

 

 

 

Nancy Hamalian 

 
 
 
 

 
Date 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNTY 

 

 

 

Chair 

Board of Commissioners 

 
 
 

 
Date 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 

 

 

Morgan Smith 

County Counsel 

 
 
 

 
Date 

 

 

11 



 

EXHIBIT A:  

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

Between 

POLK COUNTY  and  WOODWINDS WEST, LLC 

1. DEFINITIONS: 

Except as otherwise defined in this Business Associate Agreement (BA Agreement), any 

and all italicized terms herein shall have the same definition as those in the HIPAA 

Privacy Rule.1 Henceforth, Polk County, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, 

shall be referred to as “COUNTY” and Woodwinds West, LLC, shall be referred to as 

“CONTRACTOR”. 

2. OBLIGATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF CONTRACTOR: 

A. CONTRACTOR agrees to not use or disclose Protected Health Information other than 

as permitted or required by this BA Agreement or as permitted or required by law. 

B. CONTRACTOR agrees to use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information other than as provided for by this BA Agreement. 

C. CONTRACTOR agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is 

known to CONTRACTOR of a use or disclosure of Protected Health Information by 

CONTRACTOR in violation of the requirements of this BA Agreement. 

D. CONTRACTOR agrees to report to the COUNTY any use or disclosure of the Protected 

Health Information not provided for by this BA Agreement of which it becomes 

aware. 

E. CONTRACTOR agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it 

provides Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by, 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY agrees to the same restrictions and 

conditions that apply through this BA Agreement to CONTRACTOR with respect to 

such information. 

1 The use and disclosure of protected health information in performance of Business Associate functions is 
governed by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164), 
referred to as the Privacy Rule, which were issued by the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
pursuant to Public Law 104-191, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). The use 
and disclosure of protected health information is also governed by laws of the State of Oregon and by other federal 
laws. 

12 



 

F. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to provide access, 

at the request of the COUNTY, and in the time and manner necessary for reasonable 

compliance, to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set to the 

COUNTY or, as directed by the COUNTY, to an Individual in order to meet the 

requirements under 45 CFR § 164.524. 

G. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to make any 

amendment(s) to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set that the 

COUNTY directs or agrees to pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.526 at the request of 

CONTRACTOR, or an Individual, and in the time and manner necessary for 

reasonable compliance. 

H. CONTRACTOR agrees to make internal practices, books, and records, including 

policies and procedures and Protected Health Information, relating to the use and 

disclosure of Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY available to the COUNTY or to the Secretary 

of the Department of Health and Human Services, in a time and manner agreed 

between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR or designated by the Secretary, for 

purposes of the Secretary determining the COUNTY’S compliance with the Privacy 

Rule. 

I. CONTRACTOR agrees to document such disclosures of Protected Health Information 

and information related to such disclosures as would be required for the COUNTY to 

respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected 

Health Information in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

J. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide to the COUNTY or an Individual, in the time and 

manner necessary for reasonable compliance, information collected in accordance 

with section 2.A of this BA Agreement, to permit the COUNTY to respond to a 

request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health 

Information in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

3. PERMITTED USES AND DISCLOSURES BY CONTRACTOR: 

Except as otherwise limited in this BA Agreement, CONTRACTOR may use or disclose 

Protected Health Information to perform certain health plan functions for or on behalf 

of the COUNTY as specified in the Polk County Agreement and in this BA Agreement 

provided that such use or disclosure would not violate the Privacy Rule if done by the 

COUNTY or the minimum necessary policies and procedures of the COUNTY. 

13 



 

4. OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY: 

A. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any limitation(s) in the Notice of Privacy 

Practices of the COUNTY in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.520, to the extent that 

such limitation may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected Health 

Information. 

B. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any changes in, or revocation of, 

permission by Individual to use or disclose Protected Health Information, to the 

extent that such changes may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected 

Health Information. 

C. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any restriction to the use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information that the COUNTY has agreed to in accordance with 45 

CFR § 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or 

disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

5. PERMISSIBLE REQUESTS BY THE COUNTY: The COUNTY shall not request CONTRACTOR to 

use or disclose Protected Health Information in any manner that would not be 

permissible under the Privacy Rule if done by the COUNTY except if such use or 

disclosure is permitted under the Agreement between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR. 

6. TERM AND TERMINATION: 

A. Term. This BA Agreement shall be effective as of July 01, 2025, and shall terminate 

when all of the Protected Health Information provided by the COUNTY to 

CONTRACTOR, or created or received by CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY, is 

destroyed or returned to the COUNTY, or, if it is infeasible to return or destroy 

Protected Health Information, protections are extended to such information, in 

accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. 

B. Termination for Cause. Upon the COUNTY’S knowledge of a material breach by 

CONTRACTOR, the COUNTY shall either: 

i. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to cure the breach without the 

intervention of the COUNTY within the timeline specified in Section III (P) of the 

Polk County Agreement; or 

ii. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to terminate this BA Agreement and 

the Polk County Agreement within the timeline specified in Section III of the Polk 

County Agreement. At the direction of its Board of Directors, the COUNTY may 

14 



 

terminate this BA Agreement and the Polk County Agreement as permitted in 

Section III of the Polk County Agreement if CONTRACTOR has not cured the 

breach upon conclusion of the technical assistance and corrective action 

described in paragraph (i.) of this section; or 

iii. If neither termination nor cure is feasible, the COUNTY shall report the violation 

to the Secretary. 

C. Effect of Termination. 

i. Except as provided in paragraph (ii.) of this section, upon termination of this BA 

Agreement, for any reason, CONTRACTOR shall return or destroy all Protected 

Health Information received from the COUNTY, or created or received by 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY. This provision shall apply to Protected 

Health Information that is in the possession of subcontractors or agents of 

CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall retain no copies of the Protected Health 

Information. 

ii.  In the event that CONTRACTOR determines that returning or destroying the 

Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall provide to the 

COUNTY written notification of the conditions that make return or destruction 

infeasible. Upon written acknowledgement by the COUNTY that the return or 

destruction of Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall 

extend the protections of this BA Agreement to such Protected Health 

Information and limit further uses and disclosures of such Protected Health 

Information to those purposed that make the return or destruction infeasible, for 

so long as CONTRACTOR maintains such Protected Health Information. 

7. MISCELLANEOUS: 

A. Regulatory References. References in this BA Agreement to the Privacy Rule or any 

section of the Privacy Rule means the Privacy Rule or section as in effect or as 

amended. 

B. Amendment. The COUNTY and CONTRACTOR agree to take such action as is 

necessary to amend this BA Agreement from time to time as is necessary for the 

COUNTY to comply with the requirement of the Privacy Rule and HIPAA. 

C. Survival. The respective rights and obligations of CONTRACTOR under Section 6.C of 

this BA Agreement shall survive the termination of this BA Agreement. 

15 



 

D. Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this BA Agreement shall be resolved to permit the 

COUNTY to comply with the Privacy Rule. In the event of any inconsistency between 

the provisions of this BA Agreement and the mandatory provisions of the Privacy 

Rule, the Privacy Rule shall control. Where laws in the State of Oregon or other 

federal law is more stringent than the Privacy Rule, the more stringent Oregon or 

federal law shall control. 

8. SECURITY RULE BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT LANGUAGE: 

A. Background Requirement: The COUNTY, in accordance with § 164.306 and § 164.308 

(b), may permit the CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic 

Protected Health Information on the COUNTY’S behalf only if the COUNTY obtains 

satisfactory assurances, in accordance with § 164.314(a) that the CONTRACTOR will 

appropriately safeguard the information. The COUNTY must document the 

satisfactory assurances through a written contract or other arrangement with the 

CONTRACTOR. 

B. Part I. Security Assurances: The CONTRACTOR will Implement administrative, 

physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the 

confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health 

information that it creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of the 

COUNTY as required by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 

1996 and the requirements of Health Insurance Reform, the Security Standards 

(45CFR Parts 160, 162 & 164); 

i. Ensure that any agent, including a SUBCONTRACTOR, to whom it provides such 

information, agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to 

protect it. 

ii. Report to the COUNTY any security incident of which it becomes aware. 

iii.  Authorize termination of the contract by the COUNTY, if the COUNTY determines 

that the business associate has violated a material term of the contract. 

C. Part II. Other arrangements: When the COUNTY and the CONTRACTOR are both 

governmental entities, the COUNTY is in compliance with the requirements if: 

i. It enters into a memorandum of understanding with the CONTRACTOR that 

contains terms that accomplish the objectives of Part I.; or 

16 



 

ii. Other law (including regulations adopted by the COUNTY or the CONTRACTOR) 

contains requirements applicable to the CONTRACTOR that accomplish the 

objectives of Part I. 

D. If the CONTRACTOR is required by law to perform a function or activity on behalf of 

the COUNTY or to provide a service described in the definition of CONTRACTOR as 

specified in § 160.103 of the regulation to the COUNTY, the COUNTY may permit the 

CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic Protected Health 

Information on its behalf to the extent necessary to comply with the legal mandate 

without meeting the requirements of Part I., although the COUNTY will attempt in 

good faith to obtain satisfactory assurances as required by Part I. (A), and will 

document the attempt and the reasons that these assurances cannot be obtained, if 

not obtained.  

17 



 

EXHIBIT B: 

 STATEMENT OF WORK 

POLK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon and, WOODWINDS WEST, LLC, 

hereinafter called “Contractor,” hereby agree to the following: 

1. STATEMENT OF SERVICES 

A. Contractor agrees to work within scope, training and experience as a Registered Nurse, 

to provide Communicable Disease, Immunization, Reproductive Health and Tuberculosis 

services as evidenced by the Service Authorization and Activity form. 

B. Contractor shall perform all services deemed necessary in their professional opinion 

based upon their training, education and expertise as evidenced in the application 

materials and other professional endorsements, notwithstanding any limitations set 

forth in this agreement. 

C. Contractor shall only use methods or techniques in which the Contractor has 

documented training, education and expertise.  Contractor will ensure services provided 

are within rules and guidelines of Oregon Health Authority, Public Health Division, 

Chapter 333. 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A. Contractors must provide primary source verification of credentials.  No work will be 

assigned to Contractors who render direct service to clients or patients until credentials 

have been validated for Medicaid claims. 

B. Annual requirements mandate that the Contractor will submit a conflict of Interest 

Statement. Contractor queries of the OIG and EPLS List of Excluded Individuals/Entities 

database will also be performed annually. Bases for exclusion include convictions for 

program-related fraud and patient abuse, licensing board actions and default on Health 

Education Assistance Loans. It is the expectation that the Contractor will maintain 

credentialing required to perform job duties in good standing.  It is the responsibility of 

the Contractor to report any circumstances that would jeopardize this standing or lead 

to exclusionary status. Failure to do so may lead to contract termination.  

C. Contractor agrees to report cases of suspected Medicaid, Medicare fraud, waste, or 

abuse to the PCBH Compliance Officer at 503-623-9289.  If there is reason to believe 

that PCBH cannot respond appropriately to a suspected case of fraud, waste, or abuse, 

or if the case involves PCBH, then Contractor agrees to make a report to Ethicspoint at 

888-265-4068. 

18 



 

D. County may conduct performance reviews annually to assess Contractor’s performance 

as it relates to the services required under this contract. 

E. Absences: 

i. Contractor shall notify the County at least fourteen (14) business days in advance for 

all anticipated extended absences (i.e. vacations, professional meetings, etc.). 

ii. Contractor shall notify the County of unplanned absences (ie: illness or other 

unforeseen events) at least one hour prior to expected work time. 

F. Contractor agrees to provide thirty (30) business days notice of changes to their clinic 

schedule availability. 

G. All client records are considered the property of the County and shall not be retained by 

the Contractor. Contractor shall have all service notes and documentation completed 

within three (3) business days of service encounter..  Contractor shall maintain 

client/patient records and documentation within CMS guidelines. 

H. Contractor may elect to use the electronic health record system supported by the 

County. Contractor shall provide County with a Certificate of Electronic Health Record 

Technology (CEHRT) when Contractor elects to use a system that is not supported by the 

County or Oregon Health Authority.  

I. Documents that are required for billing shall be submitted three (3) days after the close 

of business on the last weekday of each month Documentation found to be out of 

compliance with County and/or State guidelines shall be corrected within ten (10) 

business days. 

3. AUTHORIZED SERVICES 

County will only pay for service and activities that have been pre authorized and agreed upon in 

writing by both parties on a Service Activity Authorization Form. 

4. RATES AND METHOD OF PAY 

A. County shall reimburse the Contractor at the rate of $64.89 per hour for services as 

outlined in the Service Activity Authorization form with services paid on a per 

occurrence basis to the nearest quarter hour upon receipt of an invoice. 

B. County will have no legal obligation to pay for any unauthorized services, including 

unauthorized expenditures. 

19 



 
CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET 

 
 

Staff Contact: Rosana Warren Rivera Phone Number (Ext): 2550 

Department: Health Services: Behavioral Health Consent Calendar Date: June 11, 2025 
 

Contractor Name: Oregon Department of Human Services 
 

Address: 500 Summer St SE, E86 

City, State, Zip: Salem, OR 97301 
 

Effective Dates - From: July 01, 2025 Through: June 30, 2029 
 

Contract Amount: $3,040,000 
 

Background: 

The Oregon Health Authority provided funding for the Behavioral Health Resource Network (BHRN), 
with the goal to provide an array of services, including linkage to drug treatment and recovery 
services to Polk County residents through Measure 110. This award is granted through RFGA 11169 
and acts as the renewal to IGA 176691 (No. 22-140).  

Discussion: 

Intergovernmental Agreement 048242 awards funding for the continuation of BHRN services 
through Measure 110 in the amount of $3,040,000 over a 4 year period, as expected.   

Fiscal Impact: 

The total award for this grant is $3,040,000. This funding supports the current programming and 
staffing levels agreed upon and does not represent expansion at this time. 

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that Polk County sign Intergovernmental Agreement 048242 with the Oregon 
Health Authority.  

Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following: 

Name: Rosana Warren Rivera E-mail: hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us 

Name:  E-mail:  
 



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 1 of 19 

Grant Agreement Number PO-44300-00048242 

STATE OF OREGON 

GRANT AGREEMENT 

This Grant Agreement (this “Agreement”) is by and between the State of Oregon, acting 

by and through its Oregon Health Authority (“OHA”) and the Oversight and Accountability 

Council (“OAC”), which is staffed by OHA (together, “Grantor”) and  

Polk County Behavioral Health (“Recipient”). 

Contact information for the parties is as follows: 

Behavioral Health Division 

500 Summer St SE, E86 

Salem, Oregon 97301 

M110.Grants@dhsoha.state.or.us 

Polk County Behavioral Health 

182 SW Academy Street 

Dallas, Oregon 97338 

Attention: Craig Pope 

Telephone: 503-623-9289 

E-mail address: hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us

1. Effective Date and Duration.

This Agreement is effective on July 1, 2025 (the “Effective Date”). Unless extended or

terminated earlier in accordance with its terms, this Agreement will expire on June 30, 2029.

Termination of this Agreement will not extinguish or prejudice Grantor’s right to enforce this

Agreement with respect to any default by Recipient that has not been cured.

2. Agreement Documents.

This Agreement includes the following exhibits, which are incorporated herein by reference to

the same extent and with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein. In the event of a

conflict between provisions within any of the documents, the terms of this Agreement without

exhibits will be controlling.

(1) Exhibit A, Part 1: Program Description

(2) Exhibit A, Part 2: Disbursement and Financial Reporting

(3) Exhibit A, Part 3: Special Terms and Conditions

(4) Exhibit B: Standard Terms and Conditions 

(5) Exhibit C: Insurance Requirements 

(6) Exhibit D: Approved Budget 

3. Grant Funds and Disbursement Generally.

The maximum not-to-exceed amount payable to Recipient under this Agreement is

$3,040,000.00 (the “Grant Funds” or “Grant”). Grantor will not disburse Grant Funds to

Recipient in excess of the not-to-exceed amount and will not disburse Grant Funds until this

Agreement has been executed. Grantor will disburse the Grant to Recipient as described in

Exhibit A, Part 2.

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E
Polk County Contract No. 25-90

mailto:M110.Grants@dhsoha.state.or.us


PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 2 of 19  

 

4. Contractor or Subrecipient Determination. 

In accordance with the State Controller’s Oregon Accounting Manual, policy 

30.40.00.104, OHA’s determination is that: 

Recipient is a subrecipient Recipient is a   Not applicable 

 

5. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) #(s) of federal funds to be paid through this 

Agreement: N/A 

 

6. Recipient Data and Certification. 

a. Recipient Information. Recipient shall provide the information set forth below. 

 

PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION 

Recipient Name (exactly as filed with the IRS): \coname1\ 

 

Street address: \add11\ 

City, state, zip code: \add21\ 

Email address: \email1\ 

Telephone: \phone1\ Fax: \fax1\ 

 

Business Designation: (Select one): \busdesig1\ 

Professional Corporation  Nonprofit Corporation  Limited Partnership 

Limited Liability Company Limited Liability Partnership Sole Proprietorship 

Corporation   Partnership  Other 

 

7. Recipient Proof of Insurance. Recipient shall provide proof of all insurance listed and required by 

Exhibit C. 

 

8. Certification. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by signature on this Agreement, 

each signatory for Recipient hereby certifies that: 

 

(1) Recipient is in compliance with all insurance requirements in Exhibit C of this 

Agreement and Recipient shall deliver to OHA the required Certificate(s) of 

Insurance in accordance with the deadline established in Exhibit C, Section 8. By 

certifying compliance with all insurance as required by this Agreement, Recipient 

acknowledges it may be found in breach of the Agreement for failure to obtain 

required insurance. Recipient may also be in breach of the Agreement for failure 

to provide Certificate(s) of Insurance as required and to maintain required 

coverage for the duration of the Agreement; 

 

(2) The information shown in Section 6a. “Recipient Information”, is Recipient’s true, 

accurate and correct information; 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E

hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 3 of 19  

(3) Recipient has all necessary right, power and authority under its organizational 

documents and applicable Oregon law to execute and deliver this Agreement and 

incur and perform its obligations under this Agreement; 

 

(4) Recipient and its training agents have all applicable licenses and registrations and 

remain in good standing with the State of Oregon and its agencies; 

 

(5) Recipient has disclosed in writing to Grantor all facts that materially adversely 

affect the Agreement, or the ability of Recipient to perform all obligations 

required by this Agreement. Recipient has made no false statements of fact, nor 

omitted information necessary to prevent any statements from being misleading. 

The information contained in this Agreement, including any exhibit, is true and 

accurate in all respects; 

 

(6) To the best of Recipient’s knowledge, Recipient has not discriminated against and 

will not discriminate against minority, women or emerging small business 

enterprises certified under ORS 200.055 in obtaining any required subcontracts;  

 

(7) Recipient is not subject to backup withholding because: 

(a) Recipient is exempt from backup withholding; 

(b) Recipient has not been notified by the IRS that Recipient is subject 

to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest 

or dividends; or 

(c) The IRS has notified Recipient that Recipient is no longer subject 

to backup withholding. 

 

(8) Recipient Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) or Social Security 

Number (SSN) provided is true and accurate. If this information changes, 

Recipient shall provide Grantor with the new FEIN or SSN within 10 days; 

 

(9) Governmental Consent. Recipient has obtained or will obtain all permits and 

approvals, and has made or will make all notifications, declarations, filings, or 

registrations, required for the making and performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement and the undertaking and completion of all activities related to the 

Service Areas; and 

 

(10) Pending Litigation. Recipient has disclosed in writing to Grantor all proceedings 

pending (or to the knowledge of Recipient, threatened) against or affecting 

Recipient, in any court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board 

or tribunal, including BOLI, that, if adversely determined, would materially 

adversely affect the Agreement or the ability of Recipient to perform all 

obligations required by this Agreement.

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 4 of 19  

RECIPIENT, BY EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT RECIPIENT 

HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT, UNDERSTANDS IT, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ITS TERMS AND 

CONDITIONS. 

Signatures. This Agreement and any subsequent amendments may be executed in several counterparts, all of 

which when taken together will constitute one agreement binding on all parties, notwithstanding that all parties 

are not signatories to the same counterpart. Each copy of the Agreement and any amendments so executed will 

constitute an original. Copies of signature by facsimile, electronic scan, or other electronic means will be 

considered original signatures.  
 

Recipient By: Polk County Behavioral Health 

   

\signer1\  \name1\ 

Authorized Signature  Printed Name 

   

\title1\  \date1\ 

Title  Date 
  

Grantor By: 

   

\signer2\  \name2\ 

Authorized Signature 

Director, OHA Behavioral Health Division 

 Printed Name 

   

\title2\  \date2\ 

Title  Date 
 

   

\signer3\  \name3\ 

Signature  Printed Name 

   

OAC Tri-Chair  \date3\ 

Title  Date 
 

   

\signer4\  \name4\ 

Signature  Printed Name 

   

OAC Tri-Chair  \date4\ 

Title  Date 
 

   

\signer5\  \name5\ 

Signature  Printed Name 

   

OAC Tri-Chair  \date5\ 

Title  Date 

 

Approved for Legal Sufficiency: 

 

Approved as a group by Lisa Gramp, Sr. Assistant Attorney General April 3, 2025 

Department of Justice Date 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 5 of 19  

EXHIBIT A 

Part 1  

Program Description 

 

1. Background 

In November 2020, Oregon voters passed Measure 110, the Drug Addiction Treatment and Recovery Act 

of 2020 which became effective on December 4, 2020, to better serve people actively using substances or 

diagnosed with a substance use disorder. Various legislative changes have been made, and the current 

provisions can be found in Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 430.383 to 430.390, and ORS 430.394 

(collectively, the “Act”). 

 

2. Service Areas 

 

2.1. Recipient’s Service Areas (as hereinafter defined) must be provided free of charge to clients, 

regardless of the client’s ability to pay or insurance status, without need for referral or designated 

pathway to recovery. Recipient shall bill insurance for services where insurance is available, but 

Recipient may not bill any client for any balance.  Recipient cannot delay services for purposes of billing 

insurance or awaiting processing of any such billing. 

 

2.2. Recipient shall provide (required are those marked with an ‘X’ in the table below) (each, a 

“Service Area” and collectively, the “Service Areas”): 

 

 Required if 

marked by “X” 

Screening Assessments in accordance with OAR 944-010-0030. X 

Comprehensive Behavioral Health Needs Assessment in accordance with OAR 

944-010- 0040 

X 

Ongoing peer counseling and support from screening and assessment through 

implementation of individual intervention plans in accordance with OAR 944-010-

0050. 

X 

Harm reduction services and information and education about harm reduction 

services in accordance with OAR 944-010-0060 

X 

Low-barrier substance use disorder treatment in accordance with OAR 944-010-

0070. 

 

Transitional and supportive housing for individuals with substance use disorders in 

accordance with OAR 944-010-0080. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 6 of 19  

 

2.3. Recipient shall ensure that the Service Areas are conducted in accordance with the Act and 

Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 944, Division 010 (the “Rules”). 

 

2.4. Recipient shall, in accordance with OAR 944-010-0020(1)(b), maintain, implement, and formalize 

organizational policies and procedures that detail how it will operate and offer services. 

 

2.5. Additional Performance Requirements. 

 Recipient must use evidence-based practice(s) or Tribal-based practices, or both, to meet the 

needs of the community Recipient serves. 

 Recipient must assure that clients who are Black, Latinx, Native American, LGBTQIA2S+, 

Asian, Pacific Islander, houseless, incarcerated, veterans, or have lived experience of substance use 

disorder can access intersectional, culturally and linguistically specific and responsive services within 48 

hours of seeking services. 

 

3. Secretary of State Audit; Records Retention. 

 

The State of Oregon has a statutory obligation to provide services at the highest level of desired 

effectiveness at the lowest possible cost.  It is the responsibility of the Secretary of State Audit Division to 

conduct performance audits of state agencies (each, an “Audit”), including Grantor, in part to identify 

whether or not the agencies are meeting these requirements. This also includes individual departments, 

commissions, and boards, including OAC. The Division of Audits will follow established, national 

standards, such as those of the United States Government Accountability Office, when completing 

performance audits.  Grantor requires its grant recipients to adhere to certain requirements for record 

retention and provide access to all documentation related to the performance of services, in order to meet 

its obligations with respect to Secretary of State audits. 

 

The distribution of funding and delivery of services has become more interrelated and interdependent 

between government, NGOs, and other service providers such that the decision as to what records are 

retained or destroyed is a matter of statewide public policy. The interest and concern of citizens in public 

records recognizes no jurisdictional boundaries and extends to such records wherever they may be found in 

Oregon. As local programs become beneficiaries of state-provided funding, the State of Oregon and its 

political subdivisions have a responsibility to apply orderly requirements for the retention and destruction 

of all public records, whether current or noncurrent, including financial information. As such, the same 

approach applies to the contractors, grant recipients, and other service providers. 

 

The retention of records allows the state, including its agencies, councils, and boards to demonstrate 

distribution of funding and associated terms, conditions, goals, objectives, and expected outcomes of its 

contractors and recipients. The Audit Division will also examine financial records to determine adherence 

to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or such other national standard as may be applied to 

service providers. Therefore, in addition to the requirements in Exhibit B.9 Records Maintenance, Access, 

Recipient shall provide or give access to Grantor and/or the Secretary of State Audits Division the 

Records, described in Exhibit B.9, within 5 business days of receipt of written notice to Recipient. 

 

4. Client Data Collection and Service Area Reporting 

 

4.1.  Recipient must submit quarterly Service Area Reports (each, a “Service Area Report”) to 

Grantor through its online Portal.  The Service Area Reports and the Expenditure Reports (as hereinafter 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 7 of 19  

defined) may be referred to herein collectively as “Reports” and individually as a “Report”.  Recipient must 

submit the Reports by the tenth day of the quarterly submission timeline throughout the duration of this 

Agreement.   

 

4.2. Recipient shall, at a minimum, collect and report the following information in a Service Area 

Report as required in OAR 944-010-0090 to Grantor.  Recipient shall also collect and report individual level 

demographic data on individuals served in accordance with OAR 950, Division 30. 

 

4.3. In addition to the foregoing information, Grantor reserves the right to request any additional 

information as it may deem appropriate in the course of its grant administration responsibilities or as may 

be required in connection with an Audit. 

 

4.4. Recipient’s submission of the Reports to Grantor is a material term of this Agreement as 

Grantor’s review and approval of the Reports is the primary method for verifying compliance under this 

Agreement.  Each Report must be complete and satisfactory to Grantor.  If requested by Grantor, 

Recipient must provide any additional information and supporting documents related to the Reports. If a 

Report is not complete or not received by the required date, the Report will be considered late. If 

Recipient fails to timely submit a Report or is repeatedly late in submitting the Reports to Grantor, 

Grantor may suspend disbursement of the Grant Funds and may exercise any other remedy hereunder as 

Grantor may determine is appropriate, including termination of this Agreement. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 8 of 19  

Exhibit A 

Part 2 

Disbursement and Financial Reporting 

 

1. Disbursement and Financial Reporting. 

 

a. Grantor no longer issues paper checks. To receive Grant Funds, Recipient must enroll in 

Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT), also known as direct deposit. To enroll, Recipient must submit a 

completed Direct Deposit Authorization Form found at: 

https://sharedsystems.dhsOAC.state.or.us/DHSForms/Served/me0189.docx If Recipient already has 

EFT set up for any type of payment that comes from the Grantor, Recipient should not send in another 

form. Recipient may contact the EFT Coordinator at (503) 945-5710 for technical assistance. Due to the 

confidential nature of bank account information, Recipient should only provide bank information to the 

EFT Coordinator. 

 

b. Grantor will disburse Grant Funds to Recipient, subject to the following: 

 

i. Grant Funds may be expended only for costs that are directly and reasonably related to 

the Service Areas and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

ii. Grant Funds may be expended only for costs in accordance with Recipient’s budget 

approved by Grantor attached hereto as Exhibit D (the “Budget”).  The Budget may be revised, 

provided that Recipient must obtain advance written approval from OHA for any revision to the 

Budget. Any proposed changes that alter the scope or intent of the approved activities, or result in a 

cumulative budget adjustment within any Service Area, must receive approval from Grantor.  

iii. Grant Funds may be expended for travel-related costs only in accordance with the 

requirements of the Oregon Accounting Manual applicable to travel- related costs. 

 

c. Grantor will disburse the Grant to Recipient as follows: 

 

Disbursement Schedule for Recipient Disbursement 

Amounts (Total for 

Recipient) 

Beginning July 1, 2025, equal payments will be disbursed on a 

quarterly basis for the upcoming quarter no later than the 10th of 

the month at the start of the quarter 

$190,000.00 

Total Payments for Recipient $3,040,000.00 

 

 

d. Expenditure Reports.  Recipient must submit quarterly Expenditure Reports to document how 

the Grant Funds were used (each, an “Expenditure Report”).  Receipts and other documentation for all 

Grant expenditures are required to be included with each Expenditure Report. 

 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E

https://sharedsystems.dhsoha.state.or.us/DHSForms/Served/me0189.docx


PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 9 of 19  

EXHIBIT A 

Part 3 

Special Terms and Conditions 

 

1. Vehicle funding request for grants: 

When Grant funds are to be used for purchase of a vehicle, as security for 

Recipient’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement, Recipient shall 

grant to Grantor a security interest in all of Recipient’s rights, title, and interest in 

and to the goods, i.e., the vehicle. Recipient agrees that from time to time, at its 

expense, Recipient will promptly execute and deliver all further instruments and 

documents, and take all further action, that may be necessary or desirable, or that 

Grantor may reasonably request, in order to perfect and protect the security interest 

granted or to enable Grantor to exercise and enforce its rights and remedies with 

respect to the vehicle. Recipient must forward by e-mail a copy of the title 

application showing Grantor as the Security Interest Holder to Grantor within five 

(5) calendar days of the acquisition from the seller. 

 

Recipient shall submit a copy of the title application to OHA via. email at 

HSD.Contracts@odhsoha.oregon.gov, with a CC to 

M110.Grants@odhsoha.oregon.gov. 

 

File Security Interest Holder information as follows: 

 

Grantor c/o 

Oregon Health Authority 

Behavioral Health Division 

500 Summer Street NE, E86 

Salem, OR 97302 

 

2. Dedicated Use Requirement 

 

Vehicles purchased using Grant funds must be used to provide the services set forth 

in the Grant Agreement. Dedicated use must continue for the useful life of the 

vehicle or five years whichever is less. 

 

3. Removal of Liens 

 

The following steps describe the process for removal of liens prior to the expiration of the 

dedicated use period described in Section 2 of this Exhibit A, Part 3: 

To release a vehicle title on which Grantor is listed security interest holder, 

Recipient must make a request in writing to Grantor. The request must specify why 

the vehicle is being disposed of and the intended use of any payments realized for 

the transaction. Grantor may approve or deny the request in its sole discretion. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E

mailto:HSD.Contracts@odhsoha.oregon.gov
mailto:M110.Grants@ohdsoha.oregon.gov


PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 10 of 19  

EXHIBIT B 

Standard Terms and Conditions 

 

1. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction. 
This Agreement will be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Any claim, action, suit or 

proceeding (collectively, “Claim”) between Grantor or any other agency or department of the 

State of Oregon and Recipient that arises from or relates to this Agreement must be brought and 

conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for the State of 

Oregon; provided, however, if a Claim must be brought in a federal forum, then it must be 

brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the 

District of Oregon. In no event will this Section be construed as a consent by the State of Oregon 

to the jurisdiction of any court or a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense to or 

immunity from any Claim, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity 

based on the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States, or otherwise. 

Recipient hereby consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts, waives any objection to 

venue, and waives any claim that any such forum is an inconvenient forum.  

 

2. Compliance with Law. 

Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, executive orders and 

ordinances applicable to Recipient and this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Recipient shall comply with Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and 

the federal regulations implementing the Act (collectively referred to as HIPAA) and 42 CFR 

Part 2 to the extent they are applicable to the services provided by Recipient. Failure to comply 

with any of the foregoing requirements is grounds for termination of this Agreement.  

 

3. Independent Parties; Conflict of Interest. 

a. Recipient is not an officer, employee, or agent of the State of Oregon as those 

terms are used in ORS 30.265 or otherwise. 

b. If Recipient is currently performing work for the State of Oregon or the federal 

government, Recipient by signature to this Agreement, represents and warrants 

that Recipient’s participation in this Agreement creates no potential or actual 

conflict of interest as defined by ORS Chapter 244 and that no statutes, rules or 

regulations of the State of Oregon or federal agency for which Recipient currently 

performs work would prohibit Recipient’s participation under this Agreement. If 

disbursement under this Agreement is to be charged against federal funds, 

Recipient certifies that it is not currently employed by the federal government. 

 

4. Grant Funds; Payments. 

Recipient is not entitled to compensation under this Agreement by any other agency or 

department of the State of Oregon. Recipient understands and agrees that Grantor’s payment of 

grant funds under this Agreement is contingent on Grantor receiving appropriations, limitations, 

allotments and other expenditure authority sufficient to allow Grantor, in the exercise of its 

reasonable administrative discretion, to pay the grant funds to Recipient as set forth in this 

Agreement. 

a. Disbursement Method. Disbursements under this Agreement will be made by 

Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) and shall be processed in accordance with the 

provisions of OAR 407-120-0100 through 407-120-0380 or OAR 410-120-1260 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 11 of 19  

through OAR 410-120-1460, as applicable, and any other Grantor Oregon 

Administrative Rules that are program-specific to the billings and payments. 

Upon request, Recipient must provide its taxpayer identification number (TIN) 

and other necessary banking information to receive EFT payment. Recipient must 

maintain at its own expense a single financial institution or authorized payment 

agent capable of receiving and processing EFT using the Automated Clearing 

House (ACH) transfer method. The most current designation and EFT 

information will be used for all disbursements under this Agreement. Recipient 

must provide this designation and information on a form provided by Grantor. In 

the event that EFT information changes or Recipient elects to designate a different 

financial institution for the receipt of any payment made using EFT procedures, 

Recipient will provide the changed information or designation to the EFT 

Coordinator identified in Exhibit A, Part 2, Section 1. 

 

5. Recovery of Overpayments. 

Any funds disbursed to Recipient under this Agreement that are expended in violation or 

contravention of one or more of the provisions of this Agreement (“Misexpended Funds”) or 

that remain unexpended on termination or expiration of this Agreement (“Unexpended Funds”) 

must be returned to Grantor. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds to Grantor promptly 

after Grantor’s written demand and no later than 15 days after Grantor’s written demand. 

Recipient shall return all Unexpended Funds to Grantor within 14 days after the termination or 

expiration of this Agreement, as applicable. Grantor, in its sole discretion, may recover 

Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds by withholding from payments due to Recipient such 

amounts, over such periods of time, as are necessary to recover the amount of the Misexpended 

Funds or Unexpended Funds or exercise any other remedy available to Grantor under this 

Agreement, including instituting an action or proceeding for damages.  

 

6. Contribution. 

If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now or 

hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against a party (the "Notified Party") with respect 

to which the other party ("Other Party") may have liability, the Notified Party must promptly notify the 

Other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and deliver to the Other Party a copy of the claim, process, 

and all legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim. Either party is entitled to participate in the 

defense of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing. 

Receipt by the Other Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and meaningful opportunity 

for the Other Party to participate in the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third Party Claim with 

counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent to the Other Party’s liability with respect to the Third 

Party Claim. 

 

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which Grantor is jointly liable with the Recipient (or would be if 

joined in the Third Party Claim ), Grantor shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys' 

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid or 

payable by the Recipient in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Grantor on the 

one hand and of the Recipient on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 

The relative fault of Grantor on the one hand and of the Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by 

reference to, among other things, the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 

opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 12 of 19  

settlement amounts. Grantor’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it would 

have been capped under Oregon law if Grantor had sole liability in the proceeding. 

 

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which the Recipient is jointly liable with Grantor (or would be if 

joined in the Third Party Claim), the Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including 

attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid 

or payable by Grantor in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Recipient on 

the one hand and of Grantor on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 

The relative fault of the Recipient on the one hand and of Grantor on the other hand shall be determined by 

reference to, among other things, the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 

opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or 

settlement amounts. The Recipient’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it 

would have been capped under Oregon law if it had sole liability in the proceeding. 

 

Recipient shall take all reasonable steps to cause its contractor(s) that are not units of local government as 

defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the State of Oregon and its 

officers, employees and agents (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, 

damages, losses, or expenses (including attorneys’ fees) arising from a tort (as now or hereafter defined in 

ORS 30.260) caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or 

omissions of Recipient’s contractor or any of the officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of the 

contractor (“Claims”). It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, 

except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be 

indemnified by the contractor from and against any and all Claims. 

 

7. Default; Remedies; Termination. 

a. Default by Recipient. Recipient shall be in default (each, a “Default”) under this 

Agreement if: 

(1) Recipient institutes or has instituted against it, insolvency, receivership or 

bankruptcy proceedings, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 

or ceases doing business on a regular basis; 

(2) Recipient no longer holds a license or certificate that is required for 

Recipient to perform its obligations under this Agreement and Recipient 

has not obtained such license or certificate within 14 calendar days after 

Grantor’s notice or such longer period as Grantor may specify in such 

notice; 

(3) Recipient fails to return Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds as 

required under this Agreement;  

(4) Recipient commits any material breach or default of any covenant, 

warranty, obligation or agreement under this Agreement; or 

(5) Recipient fails to perform any obligation under this Agreement within the 

time specified herein or any extension thereof, or so fails to pursue 

performance of any obligation as to endanger Recipient’s performance 

under this Agreement in accordance with its terms, and such breach, 

default or failure is not cured within 14 calendar days after Grantor’s 

notice, or such longer period as Grantor may specify in such notice. 

 

b. Grantor’s Remedies for Recipient’s Default. In the event Recipient is in Default 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 13 of 19  

under this Agreement, Grantor may, at its option, pursue any or all the remedies 

available to it under this Agreement and at law or in equity, including, but not limited 

to: 

(1) termination of this Agreement; 

(2) withholding all or part of monies not yet disbursed by Grantor to Recipient; 

(3) initiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, or 

declaratory or injunctive relief; or 

(4) exercise of its right of recovery of Misexpended Funds or Unexpended 

Funds. 

These remedies are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and 

Grantor may pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively or 

in any order whatsoever. 

c. Termination. 

(1) Grantor’s Right to Terminate at its Discretion. At its sole discretion, 

Grantor may terminate this Agreement: 

(a) For its convenience upon 30 days’ prior written notice by Grantor 

to Recipient; 

(b) Immediately upon written notice if Grantor fails to receive 

funding, appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 

expenditure authority sufficient to allow Grantor, in the exercise 

of its reasonable administrative discretion, to pay the grant funds 

to Recipient as set forth in this Agreement; 

(c) Immediately upon written notice if federal or state laws, 

regulations, or guidelines are modified or interpreted in such a way 

that Grantor’s support of the program under this Agreement is 

prohibited or Grantor is prohibited from paying for such support 

from the planned funding source; or 

(d) Immediately upon written notice to Recipient if there is a threat to 

the health, safety, or welfare of any person receiving funds or 

benefitting from services under this Agreement, including any 

Medicaid Eligible Individual, under its care. 

 

(2) Grantor’s Right to Terminate for Cause. In addition to any other rights 

and remedies Grantor may have under this Agreement, Grantor may 

terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to Recipient, 

or at such later date as Grantor may establish in such notice, if Recipient 

is in Default. 

(3) Mutual Termination. This Agreement may be terminated 

immediately upon mutual written consent of the parties or at such 

other time as the parties may agree in the written consent. 

(4) Effect of Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, Recipient 

shall immediately cease all activities under this Agreement unless, in a 

written notice issued by Grantor, Grantor expressly directs otherwise. 
 

8. Insurance. 

Recipient shall maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit C, attached hereto. 

 

9. Records Maintenance, Access. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 14 of 19  

Recipient shall maintain all financial records relating to this Agreement in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles. In addition, Recipient shall maintain any other records, books, documents, 

papers, plans, records of shipments and payments and writings of Recipient, whether in paper, electronic or 

other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, in such a manner as to clearly document Recipient ’s 

performance. All financial records, other records, books, documents, papers, plans, records of shipments 

and payments and writings of Recipient whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this 

Agreement, are collectively referred to as “Records”. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that Grantor 

and the Secretary of State’s Office and the federal government and their duly authorized representatives 

shall have access to all Records to perform examinations and audits and make excerpts and transcripts. 

Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all Records for the longest of: 

a. Six years following final payment and termination of this Agreement; 

b. The period as may be required by applicable law, including the records retention schedules set forth 

in OAR Chapter 166; or 

c. Until the conclusion of any audit, controversy or litigation arising out of or related to this 

Agreement. 

 

10. Information Privacy/Security/Access. 

If this Agreement requires or allows Recipient or, when allowed, its subcontractor(s), to have access to or 

use of any Grantor or OHA computer system or other Grantor or OHA Information Asset for which 

Grantor or OHA imposes security requirements, and Grantor or OHA grants Recipient or its 

subcontractor(s) access to such Grantor or OHA Information Assets or Network and Information Systems, 

Recipient shall comply and require all subcontractor(s) to which such access has been granted to comply 

with OAR 943-014- 0300 through OAR 943-014-0320, as such rules may be revised from time to time. 

For purposes of this Section, “Information Asset” and “Network and Information System” have the 

meanings set forth in OAR 943-014-0305, as such rule may be revised from time to time. 

 

11. Assignment of Agreement, Successors in Interest. 

a. Recipient shall not assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without prior written consent of 

Grantor. Any such assignment or transfer, if approved, is subject to such conditions and provisions 

required by Grantor. No approval by Grantor of any assignment or transfer of interest shall be 

deemed to create any obligation of Grantor in addition to those set forth in this Agreement. 

b. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their 

respective successors, and permitted assigns. 

 

12. Subcontracts. 

Recipient shall not enter into any subcontracts for any part of the Service Areas supported by this 

Agreement without Grantor’s prior written consent.  Recipient’s subcontract must be consistent with this 

Agreement with regard to any duties or obligations that are subcontracted.  Grantor’s consent to any 

subcontractor shall not relieve Recipient of any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement. 

 

13. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. 

Grantor and Recipient are the only parties to this Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its 

terms. Nothing in this Agreement gives, is intended to give, or will be construed to give or provide any 

benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly or otherwise, to third parties any greater than the rights and 

benefits enjoyed by the general public unless such third parties are individually identified by name herein 

and expressly described as intended beneficiaries of the terms of this Agreement. 

 

14. Severability. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 15 of 19  

The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall 

not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if this 

Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. 

 

15. Notice. 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any communications between the parties hereto 

or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, e-mail, or 

mailing the same, postage prepaid to Recipient or Grantor at the address or number set forth in this 

Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as either party may indicate pursuant to this Section. 

Any communication or notice so addressed and mailed by regular mail shall be deemed received and 

effective five days after the date of mailing. Any communication or notice delivered by e-mail shall be 

deemed received and effective on the date of e-mailing. Any communication or notice delivered by 

facsimile shall be deemed received and effective on the day the transmitting machine generates a receipt of 

the successful transmission, if transmission was during normal business hours of Recipient, or on the next 

business day if transmission was outside normal business hours of Recipient. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, to be effective against the other party, any notice transmitted by facsimile must be confirmed by 

telephone notice to the other party. Any communication or notice given by personal delivery will be 

deemed effective when actually delivered to the addressee. 

 

Grantor: 

Oregon Health Authority 

Behavioral Health Division 

500 Summer St SE, E86 

Salem, Oregon 97301 

 

16. Headings; Interpretation; Survival. 

The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification and 

reference purposes only and shall not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this Agreement. This 

Agreement will be interpreted according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any party to this 

Agreement. The rights and remedies of Grantor provided for in this Agreement, which by their nature are 

intended to survive termination of this Agreement, will survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 

17. Amendments; Waiver; Consent. 

No amendment, waiver, or consent under this Agreement shall bind either party unless it is in writing and 

signed by both parties. Such amendment, waiver, or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance 

and for the specific purpose given. The failure of either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement 

shall not constitute a waiver by that party of that or any other provision. 

 

18. Prohibition on Supplanting. 

Grant funds may not supplant or replace other funds that have been contracted for the same purpose. 

Recipient shall ensure that the Service Areas provided under this Agreement will be in addition to, and not 

in substitution for, comparable activities. 

 

19. Merger Clause. 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties on the subject matter hereof. There 

are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein, regarding this 

Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 16 of 19  

EXHIBIT C 

Insurance Requirements 

 Recipient shall obtain at Recipient’s expense the insurance specified in this Exhibit C on 

or before the Effective Date and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense throughout 

the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period or tail coverage 

requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. Recipient shall obtain the following insurance 

from insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance and 

issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to Grantor. Coverage shall be 

primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance, with the exception of 

Professional Liability and Workers’ Compensation. Recipient shall pay for all deductibles, self- 

insured retention and self-insurance, if any. 

 

1. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION & EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY 

All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 

shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for 

those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). 

Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these 

requirements. If Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall also 

obtain employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each accident. 

If Recipient is an employer subject to any other state’s workers’ compensation law, Recipient 

shall provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage for its employees as required by 

applicable workers’ compensation laws including employers’ liability insurance coverage with 

limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-of-state 

subcontractors complies with these requirements. 

 

2. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY: 

 Required 

 

Commercial General Liability Insurance covering bodily injury and property damage in a form 

and with coverage that are satisfactory to the State. This insurance shall include personal and 

advertising injury liability, products and completed operations, contractual liability coverage for 

the indemnity provided under this Agreement, and have no limitation of coverage to designated 

premises, project or operation. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of 

not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than 

$2,000,000. 

 

3. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY: 

 Required 

 

Professional Liability insurance covering any damages caused by an error, omission or any 

negligent acts related to the services to be provided under this Agreement by Recipient and 

Recipient’s subcontractors, agents, officers or employees in an amount not less than $1,000,000 

per claim. Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000. If coverage is on a claims 

made basis, then either an extended reporting period of not less than 24 months shall be included 

in the Professional Liability insurance coverage, or Recipient shall provide Tail Coverage as 

stated below. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 17 of 19  

4. EXCESS/UMBRELLA INSURANCE: 

A combination of primary and excess/umbrella insurance may be used to meet the required limits 

of insurance. 

 

5. ADDITIONAL INSURED: 

All liability insurance, except for Workers’ Compensation, Professional Liability, and Network 

Security and Privacy Liability (if applicable), required under this Agreement must include an 

additional insured endorsement specifying the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and 

agents as Additional Insureds, including additional insured status with respect to liability arising 

out of ongoing operations and completed operations, but only with respect to Recipient's 

activities to be performed under this Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory 

with any other insurance and self-insurance. Insurance must have an endorsement providing that 

the insurer may not invoke sovereign immunity up to the limits of the policy in any court. The 

Additional Insured endorsement with respect to liability arising out of Recipient’s ongoing 

operations must be on ISO Form CG 20 10 07 04 or equivalent and the Additional Insured 

endorsement with respect to completed operations must be on ISO form CG 20 37 07 04 or 

equivalent. 

 

6. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION: 

Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient may 

acquire against the Grantor or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any loss. Recipient 

will obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to effect this waiver of subrogation, but this 

provision applies regardless of whether or not the Grantor has received a waiver of subrogation 

endorsement from Recipient or Recipient’s insurer(s). 

 

7. TAIL COVERAGE: 

If any of the required insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an extended 

reporting period of at least 24 months, Recipient shall maintain either tail coverage or continuous 

claims made liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made 

coverage is on or before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months 

following the later of (i) Recipient’s completion and Grantor’s acceptance of all Services 

required under this Agreement, or, (ii) Grantor or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or, 

iii) The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement. 

 

8. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE: 

Recipient shall provide to Grantor Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 

conducting any activities required under this Agreement. The Certificate(s) shall list the State of 

Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate holder and as an endorsed Additional 

Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required endorsements or copies of the 

applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this Agreement. If excess/umbrella 

insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must 

include a list of all policies that fall under the excess/umbrella insurance. As proof of insurance 

Grantor has the right to request copies of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the 

insurance requirements in this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

Page 18 of 19  

9. NOTICE OF CHANGE OR CANCELLATION: 

Recipient or its insurer must provide at least 30 days’ written notice to Grantor before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of 

the required insurance coverage(s). 

 

10. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW: 

Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by Grantor under this Agreement 

and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and Grantor. 

 

11. STATE ACCEPTANCE: 

All insurance providers are subject to Grantor acceptance. If requested by Grantor, Recipient 

shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents 

and related insurance documents to Grantor’s representatives responsible for verification of the 

insurance coverages required under this Exhibit C. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



Page 19 of 19 
PO-44300-00048242/BRC 

Grant Agreement (Public Entity) 

EXHIBIT D 

Grantor-Approved Budget 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E



CP 385: CTII Form, Rev. 8/18 

 

Confidential 

CONTRACTOR TAX IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION 
For Accounting Purposes Only 

 
 

The State of Oregon requires contractors to provide their Federal Employer Identification 

Number (FEIN) or Social Security Number (SSN). This information is requested pursuant 

to ORS 305.385 and OAR 125-246-0330(2). Social Security numbers provided pursuant to 

this section will be used for the administration of state, federal and local tax laws. The State 

of Oregon may report this information to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Contractors 

must keep this information current at all times. Contractors are required to notify the State 

of Oregon contract administrator within 10 business days if this information changes. The 

State of Oregon reserves the right to ask contractors to update this information at any 

time during the document term. 

 

Document number: -0-0 

Legal name (tax filing): \ctiilegalname1\ 

DBA name (if applicable): \dba1\ 

Billing address: \billingadd1\ 

City: \ctiicity1\ State: \ctiistate1\ Zip: \ctiizip1\ 

Phone: \ctiiphone1\ 

FEIN: \ctiifein1\  

- OR - 

SSN:  \ctiissn1\  
 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E

PO-44300-00048242



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 09950715-AB5D-4336-974B-3AFC445A604E Status: Sent

Subject: PO-44300-00048242 BM110 POLK-POLK COUNTY BH

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 20 Signatures: 0 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 4 Initials: 0 Ben Coleman

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-08:00) Pacific Time (US & Canada)

BENJAMIN.R.COLEMAN@odhsoha.oregon.gov

IP Address: 209.112.107.133

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             5/22/2025 3:23:57 PM

Holder: Ben Coleman

             

BENJAMIN.R.COLEMAN@odhsoha.oregon.gov

Location: DocuSign

Security Appliance Status: Connected Pool: StateLocal

Storage Appliance Status: Connected Pool: Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLMLocation: Docusign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Noelle Carroll

hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 5/22/2025 3:28:00 PM

Viewed: 5/22/2025 3:29:38 PM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/22/2025 3:29:38 PM
      ID: d4916e3f-b15f-4a19-a59f-32565ba4d30d

Ebony Clarke

ebony.s.clarke@oha.oregon.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via Docusign

Zebuli Payne

paynez@phoenixwellnesscenter.org

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/8/2025 11:09:37 AM
      ID: 15a34a15-861c-436c-8107-d71433dcef6b

LaKeesha Dumas

lakeeshadumas@gmail.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/22/2025 3:28:30 PM
      ID: 6d0fb574-d79b-4530-bbd3-c35253e0f17e

Leticia Welch

leticiaw@addictionsrecovery.org

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/22/2025 8:08:21 AM
      ID: 86fa0374-8690-4721-8f3e-1bddef5ccc3a

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp



Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp
BHD.Contracts@oha.oregon.gov

BHD.Contracts@oha.oregon.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via Docusign

Benjamin McLemore

BENJAMIN.MCLEMORE@oha.oregon.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via Docusign

M110.Grants@odhsoha.oregon.gov

M110.Grants@odhsoha.oregon.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via Docusign

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 5/22/2025 3:28:00 PM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE

From time to time, Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM (we, us or Company) may be required by law to
provide to you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the terms and conditions for providing to you
such notices and disclosures electronically through the DocuSign system. Please read the information below carefully and
thoroughly, and if you can access this information electronically to your satisfaction and agree to this Electronic Record
and Signature Disclosure (ERSD), please confirm your agreement by selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use
electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system.

 
Getting paper copies

At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available electronically to you by us.
You will have the ability to download and print documents we send to you through the DocuSign system during and
immediately after the signing session and, if you elect to create a DocuSign account, you may access the documents for a
limited period of time (usually 30 days) after such documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to
send you paper copies of any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a $0.00 per-page fee. You may
request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the procedure described below.

 
Withdrawing your consent

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time change your mind and tell us
that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format. How you must inform us of your
decision to receive future notices and disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and
disclosures electronically is described below.

 
Consequences of changing your mind

If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the speed at which we can
complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to you because we will need first to send the
required notices or disclosures to you in paper format, and then wait until we receive back from you your
acknowledgment of your receipt of such paper notices or disclosures. Further, you will no longer be able to use the
DocuSign system to receive required notices and consents electronically from us or to sign electronically documents from
us.

 
All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically

Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide electronically to you
through the DocuSign system all required notices, disclosures, authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents
that are required to be provided or made available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the
chance of you inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required notices and
disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given us. Thus, you can receive all the
disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with
this process, please let us know as described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the
consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures electronically from us.

 
How to contact Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM:

You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically, to request paper copies
of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to receive notices and disclosures electronically as
follows:

 To contact us by email send messages to: mick.j.kincaid@oha.oregon.gov
 

 
To advise Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM of your new email address

To let us know of a change in your email address where we should send notices and disclosures electronically to you, you
must send an email message to us at mick.j.kincaid@oha.oregon.gov and in the body of such request you must state: your

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 11/18/2024 2:06:16 PM
Parties agreed to: Noelle Carroll, Zebuli Payne, LaKeesha Dumas, Leticia Welch



previous email address, your new email address.  We do not require any other information from you to change your email
address. 

If you created a DocuSign account, you may update it with your new email address through your account preferences.

 
To request paper copies from Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM

To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided by us to you electronically,
you must send us an email to mick.j.kincaid@oha.oregon.gov and in the body of such request you must state your email
address, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at that time, if any.

 
To withdraw your consent with Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM

To inform us that you no longer wish to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic format you may:

i. decline to sign a document from within your signing session, and on the subsequent page, select the check-box
indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may;

ii. send us an email to mick.j.kincaid@oha.oregon.gov and in the body of such request you must state your email, full
name, mailing address, and telephone number. We do not need any other information from you to withdraw consent..  The
consequences of your withdrawing consent for online documents will be that transactions may take a longer time to
process..

 
Required hardware and software

The minimum system requirements for using the DocuSign system may change over time. The current system
requirements are found here: https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements.

 
Acknowledging your access and consent to receive and sign documents electronically

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to other electronic notices and
disclosures that we will provide to you, please confirm that you have read this ERSD, and (i) that you are able to print on
paper or electronically save this ERSD for your future reference and access; or (ii) that you are able to email this ERSD to
an email address where you will be able to print on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, if you
consent to receiving notices and disclosures exclusively in electronic format as described herein, then select the check-
box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system.

By selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’, you confirm that:

You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and
You can print on paper this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure, or save or send this Electronic Record and
Disclosure to a location where you can print it, for future reference and access; and
Until or unless you notify Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM as described above, you consent to
receive exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures, authorizations, acknowledgements, and other
documents that are required to be provided or made available to you by Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority -
CLM during the course of your relationship with Carahsoft OBO Oregon Health Authority - CLM.



 
CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET 

 
 

Staff Contact: Rosana Warren Phone Number (Ext): 2550 

Department: Health Services: Behavioral Health Consent Calendar Date: June 11, 2025 
 

Contractor Name: Kinsey Miller dba Elder Care of Oregon 
 

Address: PO Box 5565 

City, State, Zip: Salem, OR 97304 
 

Effective Dates - From: July 01, 2025 Through: June 30, 2026 
 

Contract Amount: Varies 

 
Background: 

Kinsey Miller, doing business as Elder Care of Oregon, has agreed to provide Behavioral Health 
services to referred Polk County Behavioral Health individuals. 

 
Discussion: 

This contract is a continuation of services Kinsey Miller has been providing Polk County individuals 
in the past fiscal years. Kinsey Miller meets the criteria for a service provider and has been cleared 
to work with us through a criminal history records review.  

 
Fiscal Impact: 

The Behavioral Health Services budget has sufficient expenditure authority to accommodate this 
contract. The fiscal year 2024-2025 Behavioral Health budget was prepared in anticipation of this 
agreement.  

 
Recommendation: 

It is recommended that Polk County sign this agreement with Kinsey Miller dba Elder Care of 
Oregon. 

 
Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following: 
Name: Rosana Warren E-mail: hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us 

Name:  E-mail:  

Name:  E-mail:  
 



CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 

CONTRACT NUMBER: 

COUNTY/DEPARTMENT: POLK COUNTY  

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

ID#: 93-6002310 

CONTACT PERSON: ROSANA WARREN 

DATE ISSUED: PENDING 

CONTRACTOR KINSEY MILLER, dba ELDER CARE OF OREGON 

PO BOX 5565 

SALEM, OR 97304 

SSN/ID#: ON FILE 

CONTACT PERSON: KINSEY MILLER 

SERVICES PROVIDED: To provide Behavioral Health Clinical services as outlined in 

Exhibit B. 

EFFECTIVE DATES: FROM JULY 01, 2025 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2026 

BUDGET LINE #: 240-8540-540-M20/M31

DOLLAR AMOUNT: VARIES 

TERMS: Service Rates per Exhibit B 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS/INFORMATION: 

NOTIFY CONTRACTS TEAM IMMEDIATELY OF ANY CONTRACT TERMINATION 

HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us 

Polk County Contract No. 25-91

mailto:HS.CONTRACTS@co.polk.or.us


 

AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between 

POLK COUNTY 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

182 SW ACADEMY STREET 

DALLAS, OR 97338 

ID#: 93-6002310 

a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as "County" and 

KINSEY MILLER, dba ELDER CARE OF OREGON 

PO BOX 5565 

SALEM, OR 97304 

SSN/ID#: ON FILE 

hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"; and, 

WHEREAS, County is authorized to obtain, by contract, the services necessary to conduct its 

operation; and  

WHEREAS, Contractor has available, or can obtain, the necessary licenses or certificates 

required for the performance of said services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the parties above-mentioned, for and 

in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter stated as follows: 

SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

A. The County is desirous of securing the services of the Contractor to perform services 

more specifically outlined in Exhibit B: Statement of Work, based on Contractor’s 

specialty and capacity, and Polk County’s needs and capacity. 

B. The Contractor shall provide authorized services to Polk County referrals at Contractor’s 

facilities, Polk County Buildings on space available basis, and/or consumer’s school 

facility, work location, or home depending upon the needs of the individual.  Depending 

on the nature of services provided, the location of services may be curtailed by Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work. 

C. Services shall be provided in accordance with the document entitled Exhibit B: 

Statement of Work, which is attached and by reference herein, made an integral part of 

this Agreement. 

1 



 

SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 

A. As consideration for the services provided by the Contractor during the period beginning 

July 1, 2025, and ending June 30, 2026, payment shall be retroactive for approved 

services provided to Polk County referrals on or after the period beginning date. The 

Parties agree that the term of this agreement may be extended and any renewals and/or 

changes to this agreement must be submitted in writing, in the form of an amendment 

to this Contract and signed by both Parties. 

B. Agreement is effective upon the signature of all parties. It is understood by both parties 

that no commitments have been or are made by either party beyond the termination of 

the Agreement. 

C. The County will pay to the Contractor, by check(s) or ACH direct payment upon receipt of 

an authorized billing document at the rates outlined in Exhibit B and as approved by Polk 

County. Billings shall be submitted to HS Fiscal either electronically to 

hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us or by mail to  Polk County Health Services Business Services 

Department, 182 SW Academy Street Suite 204, Dallas, Oregon 97338. The County shall 

endeavor remit payment within 2-3 weeks of receipt of appropriate billing, supporting 

documentation and signed invoice. 

D. It is agreed that Contractor shall accept payment from Polk County as full and total 

payment for services and that Contractor shall not bill any Polk County clients (or their 

insurance) served under this agreement for services delivered hereunder. 

E. Contractor is engaged hereby as an independent contrac tor, and the services to be 

rendered are those of an independent contractor, subject to ORS Chapter 656, and will 

be so deemed for purposes of the following: 

i. Contractor will be solely responsible for payment of any Federal or State taxes 

required as a result of this Agreement. 

ii. This Agreement is not intended to entitle Contractor to any benefits generally 

granted to County employees. Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the 

benefits which are not intended to be extended by this Agreement to the Contractor 

are vacation, holiday and sick leave, other leaves with pay, tenure, medical and 

dental coverage, life and disability insurance, overtime, Social Security, workers' 

compensation, unemployment compensation or retirement benefits . 

iii. The Contractor is an independent contractor for purposes of the Oregon Workers' 

Compensation Law (ORS Chapter 656) and is solely liable for any Workers' 

2 

mailto:hs.fiscal@co.polk.or.us


 

Compensation coverage under this Agreement.  If the Contractor has the assistance 

of other persons in the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall qualify 

and remain qualified for the term of this Agreement as a direct responsibility 

employer under ORS 656.407 or as a contrib uting employer under ORS 656.411. 

F. Exhibit A – Business Associate Agreement attached hereto is by this reference 

incorporated herein and made an integral part of this agreement. 

SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. Extent of Agreement: This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon 

by the parties.  No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter 

of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

B. Captions: The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no 

way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement. 

C. Payment as Sole Monetary Obligation of the County: The Contractor is engaged as an 

independent contractor.  Payment as provided herein shall be the sole monetary 

obliga tion of the County.  Unless otherwise specified, the responsi bility for payment of 

all operating costs, Federal, State, County or city taxes/assessments and any other 

charges imposed by law upon employers shall be the sole responsibility of the 

Contractor. 

D. Licensing and Program Standards: The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable 

State, County, and municipal standards for licensing, and any other standards or criteria 

described in this Agreement and its attachments. 

E. Contractor-client Relationship: The Contractor will establish a system through which a 

client and/or the client’s parents or guardian may represent grievances about the 

operation of the Contractor’s service program.  At the time arrangements are made for 

the Contractor’s service, the Contractor will advise the child and parents or guardian of 

the provision.  The Contractor shall notify the County of all unresolved grievances. 

F. Safeguarding of Client Information: 

i. The use or disclosure by any party of any information concern ing a recipient of 

services purchased under this Agreement, for any purpose not directly connected 

with the administra tion of the County's or the Contractor's responsibilities with 

respect to such purchased services, is prohibited, except on written consent of the 

County, or if the County is not the recipient, on written consent of the recipient or 

attorney, or otherwise compliant with Contractor’s obligations under Exhibit A. 

3 



 

ii. For the purposes of safeguarding protected client information, Contractor agrees to 

abide by all County rules and regulations regarding Communication technology as 

documented in the County’s Communications Technology Policy. Contractors 

providing services from a County facility will be provided appropriate County 

equipment to perform its duties under this agreement.  To the extent that Contractor 

elects to use their own technology (computer, cellular phone, etc…) Contractor 

warrants that such equipment shall be compliant with County rules and regulations, 

and its obligations under Exhibit A. 

G. Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Rehabilitation Act of 1973: The Contractor agrees to comply 

with the requirements of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and Section 504 of the 

Rehabilita tion Act of 1973, and their implementing Federal regulations, including 

Executive Order 11246 as amended. 

H. Fiscal Responsibility, Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: 

i. The Contractor agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to 

assure full compliance with Federal regulations and the County’s guidelines on 

allowable use of funds paid by the County under this Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor agrees to maintain fiscal records consistent with generally accepted 

accounting practices and controls, which will properly reflect all direct and indirect 

costs and funds expended in the performance of this Agreement. The Contractor 

shall make these records available at reasonable times upon request to State and 

Federal personnel, and other persons authorized by the County. 

iii. The Contractor agrees to collect financial statistics on a regular basis and to make 

financial reports at times in the form prescribed by the County. 

I. Program Records, Controls, Reports, and Monitoring Procedures: The Contractor agrees 

to maintain program records including statistical records, and to provide program 

records to the County at times and in the form prescribed by the County.  The Contractor 

agrees to establish and exercise such controls as are necessary to assure full compliance 

with the program and facilities review (including meetings with consumers, reviews of 

service records, review of policy and procedures, review of staffing ratios and job 

descriptions, and meetings with any staff directly of indirectly involved in the provision 

of services) may be conducted at any reasonable time by State and Federal personnel 

and other persons authorized by the County. 

J. Retention of Records: The Contractor agrees to retain all books, records, and other 

documents relevant to this Agreement for three (3) years after final payment is made 

4 



 

under the Agreement or all pending matters are closed, whichever is later.  If litigation or 

other action involving the Agreement is started before the end of the three (3) year 

period, the records shall be retained until all issues arising out of the action are resolved 

or until the end of the three (3) year period, whichever is later. 

K. Insurance: 

i. Contractor agrees that it is an independent contractor and not an agent of the 

County. The Contractor and the County shall not be responsible for any legal liability, 

loss, malpractice, damages, costs and expenses arising in favor of any person on 

account of personal injuries, death or property loss or damage occurring, growing 

out of, incident to or resulting directly or indirectly from the acts or omissions of the 

other party under this Agreement. 

ii. Contractor shall obtain, and at all times keep in effect, comprehensive liability 

insurance and property damage insurance covering activities, operations, and 

omissions of the Contractor, all subcontractors, and all named additional insureds.  

Contractor may satisfy this requirement for general liability insurance in any manner 

allowed by ORS 30.282. Such liability insurance, whatever the form, shall be in an 

amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and three 

million dollars ($3,000,000) in the aggregate. In the event of unilateral cancellation 

or restriction by the insurance company of the Contractor's insurance policy referred 

to in this paragraph, the Contractor shall immediately notify the County verbally and 

in writing. 

iii. As evidence of the insurance coverage required by this Agreement, and prior to the 

execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall furnish a Certificate of Insurance to 

Polk County, to Polk County Health Services, 182 SW Academy Street, Suite 204, 

Dallas, Oregon 97338.  The Certificate form, to be completed by the Contractor's 

insurer, naming Polk County as additional insured, will be maintained in the County's 

file of this Agreement. 

iv. There shall not be any cancellation, material changes or failure to renew such 

insurance policy (policies) without thirty (30) days’ prior notice to the County. 

L. Subcontracting: Unless subcontracting is authorized elsewhere in the Agree ment, the 

Contractor shall not enter into any subcontracts for any of the work contemplated under 

this Agreement without obtaining prior written approval from the County, which 

approval shall be attached to the original Agreement. Approval by the County of a 

subcontract shall not result in any obligations of the County in addition to the agreed 

rates of payment and total consideration.  Any subcontracts which the County may 

5 



 

authorize shall contain all requirements of this Agreement, and the Contractor shall be 

responsible for the performance of the subcontractor. 

M. Re-negotiation or Modification: Any alterations, variations, modifications to or waivers 

of provisions of this Agreement shall be valid only when they have been reduced to 

writing, duly signed, and approved by the Contractor and the County and attached to 

the original of this Agreement. 

N. Excuses for Nonperformance: Neither party to this Agreement shall be held responsible 

for delay or failure in performance of the activities required herein when such delay or 

failure is due to causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the 

party.  Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, fire, flood, epidemic, strikes, 

acts of God or the public enemy, unusually severe weather, legal acts of public 

authorities, or delays or defaults caused by public carriers, which cannot reasonably be 

forecast or provided against.  Either party may terminate the Agreement after 

reasonably determining that such delay or failure will prevent continued performance of 

the Agreement, and after giving written notice to the other party of the cause, its effect 

on Agreement performance and effec tive date of termination.  If the Agreement is so 

terminated, the obligation of the County shall be limited to payment for services 

provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to the date of termination. 

O. Remedies: If the Contractor fails to provide the services or perform any of the other 

requirements under the Contract, and such failure is not excused under the paragraph 

titled "Excuses for Nonperformance", the County, after giving the Contractor written 

notice of such failure, may withhold part or all of the Contractor's payment for the 

services until such failure is corrected.  If the Contractor does not correct such failure 

within a reasonable time allowed by the County, the County may terminate the 

Agreement in accordance with the clause titled "Termination."  However, this paragraph, 

and any actions taken or not taken under it, shall not affect the County's rights under the 

"Termination" clause. 

P. Termination: This Agreement may be terminated by mutual consent of both parties or 

unilaterally by  either party at any time upon thirty (30) days’ notice to the other party in 

writing and delivered personally or by Certified Mail.   The County may also unilaterally 

terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of written notice to the Contrac tor, or 

at such later date as may be established by the County, under any of the following 

conditions: 

i. If funds, specifically authorized by Legislative acts, do not become available in 

amounts sufficient to allow for purchase of the stated quantity of services.  When 

6 



 

possible and when agreed upon by the parties, the Agreement may be modified in 

accordance with the paragraph entitled “Re-negotiation or Modification” to 

accommodate a reduction in funds. 

ii. If Federal or State laws, regulations or guidelines are modified or changed in such a 

way that the services are no longer allowable or appropriate for purchase under this 

Agreement or no longer qualify for the funding proposed for payments authorized by 

this Agreement. 

iii. If any license or certificate required by law or regulation to be held by the Contractor 

to provide the services required by this Agreement is for any reason denied, revoked, 

not renewed, or changed in such a way that the Contractor no longer meets 

requirements for such license or certificate. 

iv. Termination under this clause shall be without prejudice to any obligations or 

liabilities of either party already reasonably incurred prior to such termination, 

except that the Contractor shall be solely responsible for its obligations or liabilities 

after the termination date, which obligations or liabilities result from the 

Contractor's failure to provide for termination of, or exercises the right to terminate, 

its commitments.  No right of action or damages shall accrue to the benefit of the 

Contractor if the Agreement is terminated under this clause. 

v. The County, by written notice of default (including breach of contract) to the 

Contractor, may terminate this Agreement: 

a. If the Contractor fails to provide the services called for by this Agreement within 

the time speci fied herein or any extension thereof granted by the County; or 

b. If the Contractor fails to perform any of the other requirements of this 

Agreement; or 

c. If the Contractor so fails to perform the work required in the Agreement that 

performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms is endan gered, and 

after receipt of written notice from the County specifying such failure, the 

Contractor fails to correct such failure within ten (10) days or such longer period 

as the County may authorize. 

vi. If the Agreement is terminated under this clause, the County's obligations shall be 

limited to payment for services provided in accordance with the Agreement prior to 

the date of termination, less any damages suffered by the County. The rights and 

remedies of the County in this clause related to defaults (including breach of 

7 



 

contract) by the Contractor shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other 

rights and remedies provided to the County by law or under this Agreement. 

Q. Hold Harmless: Except for claims arising in whole from the negligence of County, its 

employees or its agents, Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold County harmless from 

and against all actions, suits, claims and demands arising out of Contractor’s 

performance under this Contract and agrees to defend County in such actions, suits, 

claims and demands. 

R. Waiver of Default: Waiver of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent default.  Waiver of breach of any provision of the Agreement shall not be 

deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to 

be a modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such in writing, 

signed by an authorized representative of the County, and attached to the original 

Agreement in accordance with the paragraph entitled "Re-negotiation or Modification". 

S. Severability: The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity 

of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and 

obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not 

contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. 

T. Fees Prohibited: The Contractor will not impose or demand any fees from any person or 

agency for services provided and paid for under this Agreement, unless the fees have 

been approved in advance by the County in writing. 

U. Non-Discrimination: The Contractor acknowledges that they are an equal opportunity 

employer and no person shall be denied services or discrimi nated against on the basis of 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status or age, and 

there shall be no discrimination in the selection, compensation or the employ ment 

practices with respect to personnel coming under the auspices of the Contractor. 

V. Assignment of Agreement: The Contractor shall not assign or transfer its interest in this 

Agreement without prior written approval of the County, which shall be attached to the 

original Agreement.  Any such assignment, if approved, is subject to such conditions and 

provisions, as the County may deem necessary.  No approval by the County of any 

assignment or transfer of interest shall be deemed to create any obligation of the county 

in addition to the agreed rates of payment and total Agreement consideration. 

W. Funds Authorized and Available: The County certifies that at the time of signing this 

Agree ment, sufficient funds are authorized and available, or are anticipated to be 

8 



 

available, for expenditure to finance costs of this Agreement within the County's current 

appropri ation or limitation. 

X. Recovery of Overpayments: If billings under this Agreement, or under any Agreement 

between the Contractor and the County, result in payments to the Contractor for which 

the Contractor is not entitled under the terms of such Agreement, the County, after 

giving written notification to the Contractor, may withhold from payments due to the 

Contractor under this Agreement such amounts, over such periods of time, as are 

necessary to recover the amount of the overpayment. 

Y. Criminal History Records Checks: Contractor agrees to authorize a review of state and 

federal records by Polk County as a qualified entity, to determine the nature of any 

criminal activity the Contractor may have been involved in accordance with OAR 

943-007-001 for purposes described in OAR 407-007-0400. No work will be assigned to 

Contractor until a Criminal History Check is completed and verified by the qualified 

entity.  Contractor shall notify Polk County within five days of being arrested, charged, or 

convicted of any crime. 

SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 

A. Payment of Subcontractors, Industrial Accident Fund Contributions, Liens and 

Withholding Taxes: 

i. Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to such 

contractor labor or material for the prosecution of the work provided for in this 

contract. 

ii. Contractor shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund 

from such contractor or subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract. 

iii. Contractor shall not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the 

state, county, school district, municipality, Municipal Corporation or subdivisions 

thereof, on account of any labor or material furnished. 

iv. Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from 

employees pursuant to ORS 316.167. 

B. Payment of Claims by County: If Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt 

payment of any claim for labor or services furnished to the contractor or a subcontractor 

by any person in connection with the public contract as such claim becomes due, the 

proper officer or officers representing Polk County may pay such claim to the person 

furnishing the labor or services and charge the amount of payment against funds due or 

9 



 

to become due the Contractor by reason of this contract.  Payment of a claim in this 

manner shall not relieve the contractor or contractor’s surety from obligation with 

respect to any unpaid claims. 

C. Hours of Labor: All laborers providing contract services shall be paid at least time and a 

half for all overtime worked in excess of 40 hours in any one week, except for individuals 

under these contracts who are excluded under ORS 653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 USC 

section 201 to 209 from receiving overtime. 

D. Payment for Medical Care: Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any 

person, co-partnership, association or corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and 

hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the 

employees for such Contractor, of all sums which the Contractor agrees to pay for such 

services and all moneys and sums which the contractor collected or deducted from the 

wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract or agreement for the purpose of 

providing or paying such service. 

E. Providing Workers’ Compensation Insurance: All employers working under this contract 

are subject employers who will comply with ORS 656.017. 

F. Health Care Benefits for Employees: The Contractor shall provide health care benefits to 

all employees who are performing services previously performed by public employees if 

the conditions specified in ORS 653.767 require such payment.  Benefits must equal or 

exceed those benefits specified in ORS 279.315(3).  This clause does not apply to 

contracts for temporary, non-ongoing or nonrecurring contracts. 

G. Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance: Contractor agrees that Contractor will 

comply and does comply with all relevant provisions of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, to the extent required by the Act. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

10 



SIGNATURE PAGE

BY SIGNATURE BELOW, both parties agree to and accept all terms and conditions of this

Agreement between County and Contractor along with the following:

Exhibit A: Business Associate Agreement

Exhibit B: Statement of Work

CONTRACTOR

د

MALR
Kinsey Miller

62/2006

COUNTY

Chair

Board of Commissioners

Date

APPROVED AS TO FORM

Morgan Smith

County Counsel

Date

11



 

EXHIBIT A:  

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

Between 

POLK COUNTY  and  KINSEY MILLER, dba ELDER CARE OF OREGON 

1. DEFINITIONS:  

Except as otherwise defined in this Business Associate Agreement (BA Agreement), any 

and all italicized terms herein shall have the same definition as those in the HIPAA 

Privacy Rule.1 Henceforth, Polk County, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, 

shall be referred to as “COUNTY” and KINSEY MILLER, dba ELDER CARE OF OREGON, 

shall be referred to as “CONTRACTOR”. 

2. OBLIGATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF CONTRACTOR: 

A. CONTRACTOR agrees to not use or disclose Protected Health Information other than 

as permitted or required by this BA Agreement or as permitted or required by law. 

B. CONTRACTOR agrees to use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information other than as provided for by this BA Agreement. 

C. CONTRACTOR agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is 

known to CONTRACTOR of a use or disclosure of Protected Health Information by 

CONTRACTOR in violation of the requirements of this BA Agreement. 

D. CONTRACTOR agrees to report to the COUNTY any use or disclosure of the Protected 

Health Information not provided for by this BA Agreement of which it becomes 

aware. 

E. CONTRACTOR agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it 

provides Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by, 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY agrees to the same restrictions and 

conditions that apply through this BA Agreement to CONTRACTOR with respect to 

such information. 

1 The use and disclosure of protected health information in performance of Business Associate functions is 
governed by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164), 
referred to as the Privacy Rule, which were issued by the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
pursuant to Public Law 104-191, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). The use 
and disclosure of protected health information is also governed by laws of the State of Oregon and by other federal 
laws. 

12 



 

F. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to provide access, 

at the request of the COUNTY, and in the time and manner necessary for reasonable 

compliance, to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set to the 

COUNTY or, as directed by the COUNTY, to an Individual in order to meet the 

requirements under 45 CFR § 164.524. 

G. In the event that it is found to be applicable, CONTRACTOR agrees to make any 

amendment(s) to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set that the 

COUNTY directs or agrees to pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.526 at the request of 

CONTRACTOR, or an Individual, and in the time and manner necessary for 

reasonable compliance. 

H. CONTRACTOR agrees to make internal practices, books, and records, including 

policies and procedures and Protected Health Information, relating to the use and 

disclosure of Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY available to the COUNTY or to the Secretary 

of the Department of Health and Human Services, in a time and manner agreed 

between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR or designated by the Secretary, for 

purposes of the Secretary determining the COUNTY’S compliance with the Privacy 

Rule. 

I. CONTRACTOR agrees to document such disclosures of Protected Health Information 

and information related to such disclosures as would be required for the COUNTY to 

respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected 

Health Information in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

J. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide to the COUNTY or an Individual, in the time and 

manner necessary for reasonable compliance, information collected in accordance 

with section 2.A of this BA Agreement, to permit the COUNTY to respond to a 

request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health 

Information in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.528. 

3. PERMITTED USES AND DISCLOSURES BY CONTRACTOR: Except as otherwise limited in 

this BA Agreement, CONTRACTOR may use or disclose Protected Health Information to 

perform certain health plan functions for or on behalf of the COUNTY as specified in the 

Polk County Agreement and in this BA Agreement provided that such use or disclosure 

would not violate the Privacy Rule if done by the COUNTY or the minimum necessary 

policies and procedures of the COUNTY. 

 

13 



 

4. OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY: 

A. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any limitation(s) in the Notice of Privacy 

Practices of the COUNTY in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.520, to the extent that 

such limitation may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected Health 

Information. 

B. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any changes in, or revocation of, 

permission by Individual to use or disclose Protected Health Information, to the 

extent that such changes may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or disclosure of Protected 

Health Information. 

C. The COUNTY shall notify CONTRACTOR of any restriction to the use or disclosure of 

Protected Health Information that the COUNTY has agreed to in accordance with 45 

CFR § 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect CONTRACTOR’S use or 

disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

5. PERMISSIBLE REQUESTS BY THE COUNTY: The COUNTY shall not request CONTRACTOR to 

use or disclose Protected Health Information in any manner that would not be 

permissible under the Privacy Rule if done by the COUNTY except if such use or 

disclosure is permitted under the Agreement between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR. 

6. TERM AND TERMINATION: 

A. Term. This BA Agreement shall be effective as of July 01, 2025, and shall terminate 

when all of the Protected Health Information provided by the COUNTY to 

CONTRACTOR, or created or received by CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY, is 

destroyed or returned to the COUNTY, or, if it is infeasible to return or destroy 

Protected Health Information, protections are extended to such information, in 

accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. 

B. Termination for Cause. Upon the COUNTY’S knowledge of a material breach by 

CONTRACTOR, the COUNTY shall either: 

i. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to cure the breach without the 

intervention of the COUNTY within the timeline specified in Section III (P) of the 

Polk County Agreement; or 

ii. Provide an opportunity for CONTRACTOR to terminate this BA Agreement and 

the Polk County Agreement within the timeline specified in Section III of the Polk 

County Agreement. At the direction of its Board of Directors, the COUNTY may 

14 



 

terminate this BA Agreement and the Polk County Agreement as permitted in 

Section III of the Polk County Agreement if CONTRACTOR has not cured the 

breach upon conclusion of the technical assistance and corrective action 

described in paragraph (i.) of this section; or 

iii. If neither termination nor cure is feasible, the COUNTY shall report the violation 

to the Secretary. 

C. Effect of Termination. 

i. Except as provided in paragraph (ii.) of this section, upon termination of this BA 

Agreement, for any reason, CONTRACTOR shall return or destroy all Protected 

Health Information received from the COUNTY, or created or received by 

CONTRACTOR on behalf of the COUNTY. This provision shall apply to Protected 

Health Information that is in the possession of subcontractors or agents of 

CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall retain no copies of the Protected Health 

Information. 

ii.  In the event that CONTRACTOR determines that returning or destroying the 

Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall provide to the 

COUNTY written notification of the conditions that make return or destruction 

infeasible. Upon written acknowledgement by the COUNTY that the return or 

destruction of Protected Health Information is infeasible, CONTRACTOR shall 

extend the protections of this BA Agreement to such Protected Health 

Information and limit further uses and disclosures of such Protected Health 

Information to those purposed that make the return or destruction infeasible, for 

so long as CONTRACTOR maintains such Protected Health Information. 

7. MISCELLANEOUS: 

A. Regulatory References. References in this BA Agreement to the Privacy Rule or any 

section of the Privacy Rule means the Privacy Rule or section as in effect or as 

amended. 

B. Amendment. The COUNTY and CONTRACTOR agree to take such action as is 

necessary to amend this BA Agreement from time to time as is necessary for the 

COUNTY to comply with the requirement of the Privacy Rule and HIPAA. 

C. Survival. The respective rights and obligations of CONTRACTOR under Section 6.C of 

this BA Agreement shall survive the termination of this BA Agreement. 

15 



 

D. Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this BA Agreement shall be resolved to permit the 

COUNTY to comply with the Privacy Rule. In the event of any inconsistency between 

the provisions of this BA Agreement and the mandatory provisions of the Privacy 

Rule, the Privacy Rule shall control. Where laws in the State of Oregon or other 

federal law is more stringent than the Privacy Rule, the more stringent Oregon or 

federal law shall control. 

8. SECURITY RULE BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT LANGUAGE: 

A. Background Requirement: The COUNTY, in accordance with § 164.306 and § 164.308 

(b), may permit the CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic 

Protected Health Information on the COUNTY’S behalf only if the COUNTY obtains 

satisfactory assurances, in accordance with § 164.314(a) that the CONTRACTOR will 

appropriately safeguard the information. The COUNTY must document the 

satisfactory assurances through a written contract or other arrangement with the 

CONTRACTOR. 

B. Part I. Security Assurances: The CONTRACTOR will Implement administrative, 

physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the 

confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health 

information that it creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of the 

COUNTY as required by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 

1996 and the requirements of Health Insurance Reform, the Security Standards 

(45CFR Parts 160, 162 & 164); 

i. Ensure that any agent, including a SUBCONTRACTOR, to whom it provides such 

information, agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to 

protect it. 

ii. Report to the COUNTY any security incident of which it becomes aware. 

iii.  Authorize termination of the contract by the COUNTY, if the COUNTY determines 

that the business associate has violated a material term of the contract. 

C. Part II. Other arrangements: When the COUNTY and the CONTRACTOR are both 

governmental entities, the COUNTY is in compliance with the requirements if: 

i. It enters into a memorandum of understanding with the CONTRACTOR that 

contains terms that accomplish the objectives of Part I.; or 

16 



 

ii. Other law (including regulations adopted by the COUNTY or the CONTRACTOR) 

contains requirements applicable to the CONTRACTOR that accomplish the 

objectives of Part I. 

D. If the CONTRACTOR is required by law to perform a function or activity on behalf of 

the COUNTY or to provide a service described in the definition of CONTRACTOR as 

specified in § 160.103 of the regulation to the COUNTY, the COUNTY may permit the 

CONTRACTOR to create, receive, maintain, or transmit Electronic Protected Health 

Information on its behalf to the extent necessary to comply with the legal mandate 

without meeting the requirements of Part I., although the COUNTY will attempt in 

good faith to obtain satisfactory assurances as required by Part I. (A), and will 

document the attempt and the reasons that these assurances cannot be obtained, if 

not obtained.  

17 



 

EXHIBIT B:  
STATEMENT OF WORK 

POLK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon and, ELDER CARE OF OREGON, 

hereinafter called “Contractor,” hereby agree to the following: 

1. STATEMENT OF SERVICES 

A. Contractor agrees to work within scope, training and experience as a Licensed 

Professional Counselor, to provide services, support and training that meets the needs of 

both Contractor and County as evidenced by the Service Authorization and Activity form. 

B. Contractor will provide Behavioral Health Clinical services. Contractor shall perform all 

services deemed necessary in their professional opinion based upon their training, 

education and expertise as evidenced in the application materials and other professional 

endorsements, notwithstanding any limitations set forth in this agreement. 

C. Contractor shall only use methods or techniques in which the Contractor has 

documented training, education and expertise.  Contractor will ensure services provided 

are within rules and guidelines of Oregon Health Authority, Health Services Division: 

Behavioral Health Services, Chapter 309-019. 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A. Contractors must provide primary source verification of credentials.  No work will be 

assigned to Contractors who render direct service to clients or patients until credentials 

have been validated for Medicaid claims. 

B. Annual requirements mandate that the Contractor will submit a conflict of Interest 

Statement. Contractor queries of the OIG and EPLS List of Excluded Individuals/Entities 

database will also be performed annually. Bases for exclusion include convictions for 

program-related fraud and patient abuse, licensing board actions and default on Health 

Education Assistance Loans. It is the expectation that Contractor will maintain 

credentialing required to perform job duties in good standing.  It is the responsibility of 

the Contractor to report any circumstances that would jeopardize this standing or lead 

to exclusionary status. Failure to do so may lead to contract termination.  

C. Contractor agrees to report cases of suspected Medicaid, Medicare fraud, waste, or 

abuse to the PCBH Compliance Officer at 503-623-9289.  If there is reason to believe 

that PCBH cannot respond appropriately to a suspected case of fraud, waste, or abuse, 

or if the case involves PCBH, then Contractor agrees to make a report to Ethicspoint at 

888-265-4068. 

18 



 

D. County may conduct performance reviews annually to assess Contractor’s performance 

as it relates to the services required under this contract. 

E. Absences: 

i. Contractor shall notify the County at least fourteen (14) business days in advance for 

all anticipated extended absences (i.e. vacations, professional meetings, etc.). 

ii. Contractor shall notify the County of unplanned absences (ie: illness or other 

unforeseen events) at least one hour prior to expected work time. 

F. Contractor agrees to provide thirty (30) business days notice of changes to their clinic 

schedule availability. 

G. All client records are considered the property of the County and shall not be retained by 

the Contractor. Contractor shall have all service notes and documentation completed 

within three (3) business days of service encounter.Contractor shall maintain 

client/patient records and documentation within CMS guidelines. 

H. Contractor may elect to use the electronic health record system supported by the 

County. Contractor shall provide County with a Certificate of Electronic Health Record 

Technology (CEHRT) when Contractor elects to use a system that is not supported by the 

County or Oregon Health Authority. 

I. Documents that are required for billing shall be submitted three (3) days after the close 

of business on the last weekday of each month. Documentation found to be out of 

compliance with County and/or State guidelines shall be corrected within ten (10) 

business days. 

J. Billable service notes shall meet documentation standards in accordance with OAR 

309-019-0135 through 309-019-0145. 

A. Contractor is required to receive two hours of clinical supervision quarterly, which shall 

include at least one hour of individual face-to-face contact either in person or via 

two-way audio visual conferencing from a qualified clinical supervisor. Contractor will be 

required to provide documentation of supervision received, if obtained by a Clinical 

Supervisor Outside of County. Failure to do so may lead to contract termination. 

3. AUTHORIZED SERVICES 

A. County will only pay for service and activities that have been pre authorized and agreed 

upon in writing by both parties on a Service and Activity Authorization Form. 

19 



 

B. County will authorize services based on Level of Care as outlined in the Individual 

Service Plan. All services submitted for payment must be supported by the Individual 

Service Plan and verified by County to be compliant with applicable regulations. 

4. RATES AND METHOD OF PAY 

A. County shall reimburse the Contractor at the rate of $124.00 per hour for services as 

outlined in the Service Activity Authorization form with services paid on a per 

occurrence basis to the nearest quarter hour upon receipt of an invoice. 

B. County shall reimburse the Contractor at the rate of $600.00 per Pre-Admission 

Screening and Resident Review (PASRR) upon receipt of an invoice. 

C. County will have no legal obligation to pay for any unauthorized services, including 

unauthorized expenditures. 

 

20 



 
CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET 

 
 

Staff Contact: Rosana Warren Rivera Phone Number (Ext): 2550 

Department: Health Services: Behavioral Health Consent Calendar Date: June 11, 2025 
 

Contractor Name: Western Oregon University 
 

Address: 345 Monmouth Ave North 

City, State, Zip: Monmouth, OR 97361 
 

Effective Dates - From: July 01, 2022 Through: June 30, 2025 
 

Contract Amount: None 
 

Background: 
Polk County has agreed to provide appropriate crisis evaluations, referrals, or other related hospital diversion 
services to Western Oregon University (WOU) students. This is Amendment 1 to Agreement No. 22-170. 
 

 

Discussion: 
Amendment 1 is retro-active to capture the continuation of services Polk County has been providing for WOU 
students in the past fiscal year for crisis intervention services. This Amendment extends the Agreement to 
June 30, 2025 to bring us current. No other changes noted. 

 

Fiscal Impact: 
There is no financial impact. 
 

 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that Polk County sign this Amendment 1 with Western Oregon University.  
 

 
Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following: 
Name: Rosana Warren Rivera E-mail: warren.rosana@co.polk.or.us 

Name:  E-mail:  

Name:  E-mail:  
 



 AMENDMENT NO. 1 to No. 22-170  the 
 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

 between 
 POLK COUNTY and WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY 

 The Intergovernmental Agreement No. 22-170, entered into by and between POLK COUNTY, a 
 political subdivision of the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as "County" and WESTERN 
 OREGON UNIVERSITY, hereinafter referred to as "University", pursuant to ORS 190.010 
 (Cooperative Agreements) dated July 1, 2022 incorporated herein by reference “the 
 Agreement”; 

 RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, County shall perform crisis evaluations, referral, and hospital diversion services to 
 University students; 

 WHEREAS, County and University intend to amend the Agreement effective as of July 01, 2024; 

 NOW,  THEREFORE,  IT  IS  HEREBY  AGREED  by  and  between  the  above-mentioned  parties,  for  and 
 in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter stated as follows: 

 AMENDMENT 

 The Agreement is hereby amended as follows (new language is indicated by  underlining  and 
 deleted language is indicated by  strikethrough  ): 

 ARTICLE II: AGREEMENT PERIOD 

 This  Agreement  shall  be  effective  on  July  1,  2022  and  shall  expire  on  June  30, 
 2024  2025  .  Performance  may  be  extended  for  additional  periods  by  written 
 mutual  consent  between  parties.  Any  extension  after  termination  shall  be 
 retroactive to the date of termination. 

 Except as expressly amended above, all other terms and conditions of the original Agreement 
 are still in full force and effect. The Parties certify that the representations, warranties and 
 certifications contained in the original Agreement are true and correct as of the effective date of 
 this Amendment and with the same effect as though made at the time of this Amendment. 

 UNIVERSITY SIGNATURE 

 Authorized Signer  Date 
 Title 

 1 

Polk County Contract No. 25-92



 COUNTY SIGNATURE 

 Craig Pope  Date 
 Board of Commissioners Chair 

 APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 Morgan Smith  Date 
 County Counsel 

 2 


	25-80.pdf
	PSA - LINTON-NELSON, LORI - 25-26 (1)
	CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
	AGREEMENT 
	SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
	SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 
	SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
	SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 

	20250530095444 (1)
	PSA - LINTON-NELSON, LORI - 25-26 (1)
	EXHIBIT A:  
	BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
	EXHIBIT B: 
	 STATEMENT OF WORK 


	25-81.pdf
	CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
	AGREEMENT 
	SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
	SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 
	SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
	SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 
	[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
	SIGNATURE PAGE 
	EXHIBIT A:  
	BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
	EXHIBIT B: 
	 STATEMENT OF WORK 

	25-90.pdf
	STATE OF OREGON GRANT AGREEMENT
	Behavioral Health Division
	500 Summer St SE, E86
	Salem, Oregon 97301

	PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION
	RECIPIENT, BY EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT RECIPIENT HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT, UNDERSTANDS IT, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ITS TERMS AND CONDITIONS.
	Signatures. This Agreement and any subsequent amendments may be executed in several counterparts, all of which when taken together will constitute one agreement binding on all parties, notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the same c...
	Grantor By:
	Approved for Legal Sufficiency:

	EXHIBIT A
	Part 1
	Program Description

	EXHIBIT A
	2. Dedicated Use Requirement
	3. Removal of Liens

	EXHIBIT B
	Standard Terms and Conditions
	1. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction.
	2. Compliance with Law.
	3. Independent Parties; Conflict of Interest.
	4. Grant Funds; Payments.

	EXHIBIT B
	5. Recovery of Overpayments.
	6. Contribution.

	EXHIBIT B
	7. Default; Remedies; Termination.

	EXHIBIT B
	8. Insurance.
	9. Records Maintenance, Access.

	EXHIBIT B
	10. Information Privacy/Security/Access.
	11. Assignment of Agreement, Successors in Interest.
	12. Subcontracts.
	Recipient shall not enter into any subcontracts for any part of the Service Areas supported by this Agreement without Grantor’s prior written consent.  Recipient’s subcontract must be consistent with this Agreement with regard to any duties or obligat...
	13. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.
	Grantor and Recipient are the only parties to this Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this Agreement gives, is intended to give, or will be construed to give or provide any benefit or right, whether directly, ...
	14. Severability.

	EXHIBIT B
	The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and ...
	15. Notice.
	Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any communications between the parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, e-mail, or mailing the same, postage prepaid to Recipie...

	Grantor:
	16. Headings; Interpretation; Survival.
	The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification and reference purposes only and shall not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this Agreement. This Agreement will be interpreted according to its...
	17. Amendments; Waiver; Consent.
	No amendment, waiver, or consent under this Agreement shall bind either party unless it is in writing and signed by both parties. Such amendment, waiver, or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose given. T...
	18. Prohibition on Supplanting.
	Grant funds may not supplant or replace other funds that have been contracted for the same purpose. Recipient shall ensure that the Service Areas provided under this Agreement will be in addition to, and not in substitution for, comparable activities.
	19. Merger Clause.
	This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties on the subject matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein, regarding this Agreement.

	EXHIBIT C
	Insurance Requirements

	1. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION & EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY
	2. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY:
	Required

	3. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY:
	Required

	4. EXCESS/UMBRELLA INSURANCE:
	5. ADDITIONAL INSURED:
	6. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION:
	7. TAIL COVERAGE:
	8. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE:
	9. NOTICE OF CHANGE OR CANCELLATION:
	10. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW:
	11. STATE ACCEPTANCE:
	EXHIBIT D

	25-91.pdf
	PSA - ELDER CARE OF OREGON - 25-26
	CONTRACT & AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
	AGREEMENT 
	SECTION I: DECLARATION OF SERVICES RENDERED AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
	SECTION II:  CONSIDERATION 
	SECTION III:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
	SECTION IV:  CLAUSES REQUIRED BY OREGON LAW FOR PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS 
	[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

	Signed PSA
	PSA - ELDER CARE OF OREGON - 25-26
	EXHIBIT A:  
	BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
	EXHIBIT B:  
	STATEMENT OF WORK 



	Nancy Hamalian: Nancy Hamalian
	Date: 6-2-25
	1 The use and disclosure of protected health information in performance of Business Associate functions is: 
	Date1_af_date: 6/2/25


